# Physio-biochemical characterization of two wheat

## cultivars to Fusarium proliferatum infection

**Bonke Xolisa Bangani** 

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Masters of Science in the Department of Biotechnology, University of the Western Cape



## **KEYWORDS**

Biotic stress
Fusarium
Fusarium proliferatum
Triticum aestivum L. (Wheat)
Plant growth parameters
Photosynthetic metabolism
Osmoprotectants
Reactive oxygen species
Lipid peroxidation
Cell death
Antioxidant enzymes
Seed germination
Mineral nutrients UNIVERSITY of the
WESTERN CAPE

### ABSTRACT

Wheat is a key global commodity in terms of acreage and tradeable value and as a staple in household diets. Many factors including biotic stress conditions have detrimental effects on global wheat production and yield. The increasing prevalence of biotic stress inflicted by fungal species such as *Fusarium* has significantly reduced yield and quality of cereal crops thus, threatening sustainable agriculture and food security. Interactions between wheat and *Fusarium* spp. such as *Fusarium proliferatum* triggers the accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) to levels toxic to the plant thus leading to oxidative damage and ultimate cellular death. In order to maintain redox homeostasis, plants rely on ROS-scavenging antioxidants (enzymatic and non-enzymatic) to control ROS molecules to levels less toxic to plants. This study investigated the impact of *F. proliferatum* on the physio-biochemical responses of two wheat cultivars (SST 015 and SST 088). Changes in seed germination, growth, biomass, chlorophyll and mineral contents were monitored. Furthermore, changes in ROS accumulation and antioxidant enzyme activity was measured in the shoots of both wheat cultivars.

The results showed that *F. proliferatum*-induced stress restricted seed germination, plant growth, biomass, and chlorophyll metabolism of both cultivars with the most significant reduction observed for SST 015. An increase in ROS accumulation (as seen for superoxide and hydrogen peroxide) was observed in the shoots and roots of both cultivars. The increase in ROS resulted in an increase in lipid peroxidation (indicated by increased MDA content). However, the increase in ROS-induced oxidative damage were more pronounced in SST 015 relative to SST 088. Furthermore, *F. proliferatum* differentially altered the antioxidant enzyme activity of both cultivars. However, contrasting responses in antioxidant enzyme activities was observed for both wheat cultivars.

Based on the results presented here we suggest that SST 088 to be more resilient to *F*. *proliferatum* infection compared to SST 015. Interestingly, wheat responses to *F*. *proliferatum* were proven to be concentration dependent, which suggest that different pathogen concentrations trigger different pathways and defence mechanisms, which bring about the differential responses observed in the physiology, mineral nutrient status and biochemistry of the plants.



# UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

## **DECLARATION**

I declare that "*Physio-biochemical characterization of two wheat cultivars to Fusarium proliferatum infection*" is my own work, that it has not been submitted for any degree or examination in any other university, and that all the sources I have used or quoted have been indicated and acknowledged by complete references.



## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I express my sincere and humble gratitude and appreciation to **Dr. Ashwil J. Klein** for being the superb supervisor that he has been and continues to be. I am grateful for the endless time he spent educating me. I certainly would not have reached this far without your supervision. Thank you for understanding my uniqueness and not give up on me. Thank you very much.

I also thank my sisters and brother for their support, especially the moral and emotional support they gave me when I was losing my mind and at my lowest point emotionally. Without your support, I would have given up on life, let alone my studies. Thank you all.

I would like to thank the members of the Plant Omics Lab for their support as well, especially Mihlali Badiwe and most especially Mbukeni Andrew Nkomo for everything.

Finally, I would like to thank NRF for their financial assistance.

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

μg	Microgram
μl	Microliter
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
APX	ascorbate peroxidase
AsA	ascorbic acid
BSA	bovine serum albumin
САТ	catalase
Cu/Zn – SOD	copper zinc superoxide dismutase
dH <sub>2</sub> O	distilled water
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
Fe – SOD	iron superoxide dismutase
FW	Fresh weight
$H_2O_2$	Hydrogen peroxide
K <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub>	Potassium phosphate dibasic
KCN	Potassium cyanide
KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>	Potassium phosphate monobasic

KI		Potassium iodide
MDA		malondialdehyde
mg		Miligram
ml		Mililitre
Mn – SOD		manganese superoxide dismutase
NBT		nitroblue tetrazolium
PAGE		polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PDA	III	Potato Dextrose Agar
PVP		polyvinylpyrrolidone
ROS		reactive oxygen species
SOD		superoxide dismutase
TBA		thiobarbituric acid
TCA	JN.	trichloroacetic acid
TEMED	VE	N,N,N',N' - Tetramethylethylenediamine

## **LIST OF FIGURES**

#### **CHAPTER 1**

Figure 1.1. The wheat map of South Africa
Figure 1.2. ML trees for the <i>Fusarium</i> genus and related genera inferred from the rDNA6
Figure 1.3. Maximum likelihood trees for the Fusarium genus and related genera inferred from
b-tub7
Figure 1.4. Maximum likelihood trees for the <i>Fusarium</i> genus and related genera inferred from
EF-1a
Figure 1.5. Maximum likelihood trees for the Fusarium genus and related genera inferred from
1ys29
Figure 1.6. ROS at low concentrations functioning as second messengers in various plant
responses
Figure 1.7. ROS at high concentrations causing oxidative damage to DN, proteins and
lipids

### **CHAPTER 3**

Figure 3.4. The effect of <i>F. proliferatum</i> on shoot and root length of two wheat cultivars39
Figure 3.5. The effect of <i>F. proliferatum</i> on shoot and root biomass in wheat plants40
Figure 3.6. <i>F. proliferatum</i> alters chlorophyll content in wheat plants
Figure 3.7. Carotenoid content in wheat plants in response to <i>F. proliferatum</i> infection42
Figure 3.8. Effect of <i>F. proliferatum</i> on the proline content of wheat cultivars

## CHAPTER 5

Figure 5.1. The effect of <i>F. proliferatum</i> on superoxide content in wheat shoots
Figure 5.2. The effect of <i>F. proliferatum</i> infection on the superoxide content in wheat roots64
Figure 5.3. The effect of F. proliferatum infection on the hydrogen peroxide content in the
shoots of <i>Triticum aestivum</i> L64
Figure 5.4. The effect of <i>F. proliferatum</i> infection on the hydrogen peroxide content of wheat
plants65
Figure 5.5. Changes in MDA content in response to <i>F. proliferatum</i> infection
Figure 5.6. Changes in root MDA content in response to <i>F. proliferatum</i> infection67
Figure 5.7. Changes in SOD enzymatic activity in the shoots of two wheat cultivars
Figure 5.8. <i>F. proliferatum</i> differentially alters APX activity in two wheat
Figure 5.9. <i>F. proliferatum</i> differentially alters POD activity in two wheat70

## LIST OF TABLES

## **CHAPTER 4**

Table 4.1A. Effect of <i>F. proliferatum</i> on the element content within the shoots of SST 015 and
SST088
Table 4.1B. Effect of <i>F. proliferatum</i> on the element content within the roots of SST 015 and
SST 088
Table 4.2A. F. proliferatum alters the element content within the shoots of SST 015 and SST
088
Table 4.2B. F. proliferatum alters the element content within the roots of SST 015 and SST
088
<b>UNIVERSITY</b> of the
WESTERN CAPE

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

KEYWORDS	II
ABSTRACT	III
DECLARATION	V
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	VI
LIST OF FIGURES	IX
LIST OF TABLES	XI
TABLE OF CONTENTS	XII
CHAPTER ONE	1
LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1. Introduction	1
1.2. The host: Triticum Aestivum L.	3
1.2.1 The importance of wheat	4
1.3 The pathogen: <i>Fusarium proliferatum</i>	4
1.3.1. Fusarium	4
1.3.2. Fusarium proliferatum	5
1.4. WHEAT AND <i>FUSARIUM</i> INTERACTIONS	10
1.4.1 Activation of phytohormones	10
1.4.2 Production of reactive oxygen species	11
1.5. Pathogen-induced plant diseases	13
1.6. PLANT DEFENCE STRATEGIES AGAINST ROS-INDUCED OXIDATIVE STRESS	14
1.6.1. Non-enzymatic antioxidant defence systems	15
1.6.2. Enzymatic antioxidant defence systems	16
1.6.2.1 Superoxide dismutase (SOD)	16
1.6.2.2. Ascorbate peroxidase (APX)	17
1.6.2.3 Peroxidase (POD)	17
1.7. NUTRIENT UPTAKE AND AVAILABILITY (EFFECT OF THE PATHOGEN ON AVAILABLE	
NUTRIENTS)	18
1.7.1. Macro nutrients	21

Calcium (Ca)	21
Potassium (K)	21
Magnesium (Mg)	22
1.7.2. Micro nutrients	22
Manganese (Mn)	22
Iron (Fe)	23
Zinc (Zn)	24
Copper (Cu)	24
1.7.3. Other nutrients	24
1.8. Aims and objectives	25
CHAPTER TWO	26
MATERIALS AND METHODS	26
2.1 FUNGAL CULTURE COLLECTION AND INOCULUM PREPARATION	27
2.2. SEED STERILIZATION AND FUNGAL INOCULATION	28
2.3 MEASURING OF THE RATE OF SEED GERMINATION	28
2.4 PLANT GROWTH	28
2.5 ANALYSES OF PLANT GROWTH PARAMETERS	29
2.6 MEASUREMENT OF SHOOT CHLOROPHYLL AND CAROTENOID CONTENT	29
2.7 MEASUREMENT OF THE PROLINE CONTENT	29
2.8 MEASUREMENT OF THE SUPEROXIDE CONTENT	30
2.9 MEASUREMENT OF HYDROGEN PEROXIDE	30
2.10 MEASUREMENT OF THE MALONDIALDEHYDE (MDA) CONTENT	30
2.11 PREPARATION OF PROTEIN EXTRACTS	31
2.12 QUANTIFICATION OF THE ANTIOXIDANT ENZYME ACTIVITY WITHIN WHEAT SHOOTS	31
2.12.1. Superoxide dismutase (SOD)	31
2.12.2. Ascobate peroxidase (APX)	32
2.12.3. Peroxidase (POD)	32
2.13 QUANTIFICATION OF MINERAL ELEMENTS BY INDUCTIVELY COUPLED PLASMA-OPTICA	L
EMISSION SPECTROMETRY (ICP - OES)	32
2.14 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	32
CHAPTER THREE	33

THE EFFECT OF FUSARIUM PROLIFERATUM ON SEED GERMINATION AND
GROWTH PARAMETERS IN WHEAT PLANTS
3.1 INTRODUCTION
3.2 Results
3.2.1 F. proliferatum reduces the rate of germination and seed viability both wheat
cultivars
3.2.2. F. proliferatum reduces the number of surviving infected plants
3.2.3. F. proliferatum alters the physiological parameters of two wheat cultivars37
3.2.4. F. proliferatum decreases chlorophyll pigments and carotenoid content in wheat
<i>plants</i>
3.2.5. F. proliferatum increases the proline content in wheat plants
3.3. DISCUSSION
3.3.1. F. proliferatum reduces the rate of germination, seed viability and plant survival
3.3.2. F. proliferatum alters the physiological characteristics of two wheat cultivars43
3.3.3. F. proliferatum decreases chlorophyll pigments and carotenoid content in wheat
<i>plants</i>
3.3.4. F. proliferatum increases the proline content in wheat plants
3.4 In summary
CHAPTER FOUR
FUSARIUM PROLIFERATUM INFECTION ALTERS THE MINERAL NUTRIENT
CONTENT IN WHEAT PLANTS49
4.1 INTRODUCTION
4.2 Results
4.2.1. F. proliferatum alters the macronutrient content in wheat plants
Calcium (Ca)
Potassium (K)
Magnesium (Mg)
4.2.2. F. proliferatum alters the micronutrient content of wheat plants
Copper (Cu)
Iron (Fe)
Manganese (Mn)

Zinc (Zn)	52
4.3 DISCUSSION	53
4.3.1. F. proliferatum alters the mineral macronutrient content in wheat	54
Calcium (Ca)	54
Potassium (K)	54
Magnesium (Mg)	55
4.3.2. F. proliferatum alters the mineral micronutrient content of wheat plants	56
Zinc (Zn)	56
Manganese (Mn)	56
Iron (Fe)	57
Copper (Cu)	58
4.4 In summary	58
CHAPTER FIVE	60
F. PROLIFERATUM DIFFERENTIALLY ALTERS ROS ACCUMULATION AND	~ 0
ANTIOXIDANT CAPACITY IN WHEAT PLANTS	60
5.1 INTRODUCTION	60
5.2. Results	61
5.2.1. F. proliferatum increases superoxide content in wheat plants	.61
5.2.2. Changes in hydrogen peroxide content in response to F. proliferatum infection.	63
5.2.3. Changes in malondialdehyde (MDA) content in response to F. proliferatum	
infection	64
5.2.4. F. proliferatum differentially alters SOD activity in two wheat cultivars	66
5.2.5. The effect of F. proliferatum on ascorbate peroxidase (APX) activity in wheat	
plants	.67
5.2.6. The effect of F. proliferatum on peroxidase (POD) activity in wheat plants	68
5.3 DISCUSSION	70
5.3.1. F. proliferatum augments ROS accumulation in wheat plants	. 70
5.3.1.1. F. proliferatum infection increases the concentration of superoxide	70
5.3.1.2. Hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ) accumulation in wheat plants in response to <i>F</i> .	
proliferatum infection	71
5.3.1.3. F. proliferatum infection enhanced the extent of lipid peroxidation in wheat	t
plants	72

5.3.2. F. proliferatum differentially alters the antioxidant enzyme activity in wheat plants
5.3.2.1. The effect of <i>F. proliferatum</i> on superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity in72
5.3.2.2 F. proliferatum differentially alters APX and POD activity in wheat plants73
5.4 In summary74
CHAPTER SIX76
CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PROSPECTIVE76
REFERENCES



# UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

## **CHAPTER ONE**

## **Literature Review**

#### **1.1. Introduction**

An active debate on new farming practices suggests that sustainable agriculture could meet the current challenges faced by conventional agricultural practices. These challenges such as production that is simultaneously economically beneficial, environmentally friendly and socially fair, organic fertilisation, drip irrigation, split fertilisation, biological pest control, reduced tillage, cultivar choice and producing larger food quantities (Wezel et al., 2013). Sustainable agriculture is thus not only important but necessary to meet the above challenges and to minimize or eliminate heavy use of agrochemicals for fertilization and pest management, which are environmentally destructive and lead to loss of biodiversity (Lithourgidis et al., 2011). Examples of crop species that are put forward as the driving force to sustainable agriculture include cereals such as wheat, corn and barley and legumes such as peas, common vetch, climbing beans, common bean and lathyrus (Hauggaard-Nielsen et al., 2001; Ghanbari-Bonjar and Lee, 2002; Schmidt et al., 2003; Chen et al., 2004; Hauggaard-Nielsen et al., 2006; Lithourgidis et al., 2007; Geren et al., 2008; Javanmard et al., 2009; Lithourgidis and Dordas, 2010). Other examples of crops species include shrubs and trees or annuals and perenials (Lithourgidis et al., 2011). The above examples are taken from intercropping, which is a method of sustainable agriculture, which could meet the challenges mentioned above.

Lesk *et al.*, (2016) showed through estimation that the national agricultural production had decreased by an average of (9-10%) worldwide. In Africa, agricultural production was disturbed and thus decreased. Examples of countries showing this decline include Ethiopia (Food Security Information Network, 2018) and Uganda (FAO, 2018a; FAO, 2018b). South Africa is no exception to this global trend, the estimated volume of agricultural production

decreased by 2.3% compared to the previous year of 2016/17. Furthermore, the latest report on Trends in the Agricultural Sector (2018) indicate that field crop production decreased by 9.8%. To counteract this decline in agricultural productivity, good practice should be guided by the need for sustainable intensification of agricultural production to raise productivity while conserving natural resources (Regional overview of food security and nutrition, 2018), which is the idea behind sustainable agriculture.

The decline in agricultural production is due to a number of factors, which can be summed up as biotic and abiotic factors. The abiotic factors include drought and temperature extremes while the biotic factors include threats such as parasites, pests and pathogens, which usually have significant impacts on the crop yields (Fandohan *et al.*, 2003; Pereira *et al.*, 2011). When plants are affected by any of the previously mentioned-factors that can lead to plant stress and disease, which have a negative impact on plant growth and development and will ultimately lead to economic loses as a result of reduced yield production (Pereira *et al.*, 2011), as reported by the sources above. Therefore, to mitigate the prevalence of undernourishment in almost all sub-regions of Africa, which has reached levels of 22.8%, and is double the global level at 11%, and food insecurity caused by the growing population estimated to be 9.1 billion in 2050, an increase in food production is necessary (Wezel *et al.*, 2013).

Numerous contrasting agricultural production practices exist (Wezel *et al.*, 2013), which can increase food production as necessary. However, the underpinning science which informs these practices must be understood. For example, how pathogens cause stress, disease and death in plants, which will give light to which crop varieties should be favoured over others. Therefore, in this chapter, the interaction and impact of disease-causing pathogens on crop production will be reviewed to provide a comprehensive study that will offer or form the basis to offer plant protection solutions and choice of cultivar to cultivate.

#### 1.2. The host: Triticum aestivum L.

Wheat is a cereal grain which is believed to have evolved in the Near East, in the geographical regions occupied by countries such as Syria, Turkey, Afghanistan, Iraq and Iran. To be more specific, the grain originated from wild grasses native to the arid regions between Armenia and the Caspian Sea in Western Asia, between 8 000 and 10 000 years ago. There is archaeological evidence of remains of domesticated wheat in Ali Koshi in Iranian Khusistan, dating back to 6 500 BC ("Production guideline for wheat," 2018; "Wheat", 2018).

In South Africa wheat was introduced in the 17<sup>th</sup> century by Jan van Riebeeck in 1652, in the Cape and over time spread all over the country. It is currently cultivated in three distinct climatic regions as follows (Figure 1.1); in the Mediterranean climate of the Western Cape Province (dryland spring wheat), adjacent to major rivers in summer rainfall areas (irrigated spring wheat) and dryland conditions with stored soil moisture from summer and autumn rains (winter/intermediate wheat).



Figure 1.1. The wheat map of South Africa ("Wheat", 2018)

#### 1.2.1 The importance of wheat

Wheat is the most cultivated and dominant food crop globally, as it grows in moderate climatic regions of the world. Furthermore, wheat contributes largely to food security, especially in sub-Saharan countries like South Africa. Several billion people in the world rely on wheat for a substantial part of their diet. Moreover, wheat provides nutrients that promote human health, including 10 of the 20 amino acids found in proteins, and minerals such as iron and zinc (Shewry, 2009; Wheat Initiative, 2013). To date iron deficiency affects about two billion people in developing countries (Stoltzfus and Dreyfuss, 1998) with more than 800 000 child deaths in parts of Africa and Asia (Micronutrient Initiative, 2006). Wheat products include cereals, couscous, bread, spaghetti, etc. Therefore, wheat is an essential food and plays a major role in food security, human health and disease prevention, not only in South Africa but the rest of the world. Despite its nutritional and health benefits, wheat is prone to environmental constraints such as biotic and abiotic stresses that negatively affect crop production and yield.

#### 1.3 The pathogen: Fusarium proliferatum

#### 1.3.1. Fusarium

Although *Fusarium* species are soil-borne organisms, they are also air-borne, water-borne and present in other substrates. The genus is responsible for causing wilts, rots, blights and cankers of many crops including field, forest, ornamental and horticultural crops in natural ecosystems and agricultural systems. A countless number of species of this genus can be recovered from plants and soils worldwide where they act as endophytes, saprophytes and pathogens (Geiser *et al.*, 2004). Some species (*F. graminearum and F. verticilloides*) mostly infect cereals and have a narrow host range; while some species infect both dicotyledonous and monocotyledonous plants (*F. oxysporum*) and have a broad host range. Many of the species in this genus are known to be phytopathogens and they produce toxic secondary metabolites

SITY of the

known as trichothecens and fumonisins. The effect of the pathogens on plants and their toxins have a negative impact on plant growth, development and yield production (Matny, 2015).

#### 1.3.2. Fusarium proliferatum

*Fusarium proliferatum* is a polyphagous (Gorna *et al.*, 2016; Gorna *et al.*, 2017) and globally occurring plant-infecting soil fungal pathogen (Galvez *et al.*, 2017). It is a fungal species within the *Fusarium* genus, which has had numerous changes in its taxonomy, due to complexities and diversity of the species within this genus. This problem led to a difficulty in finding a precise taxonomic system for this genus (Watanabe *et al.*, 2011). The genus was first classified as Fusisporium by Link in 1909. Then in 1935, Wollenweber and Reinking (1935) published a study which became the standard of the *Fusarium* genus taxonomy. This study introduced "sections" to classify the species and the sections were divided according to the presence or absence of chlamydospores, the location of the chlamydospores-intercalary or terminal, the shape of macroconodia and the shape of microconidia. In 2011, a study which classified the genus into "clades" was published by Watanabe *et al.*, (2011) and the clades were based on maximum likelihood (ML) trees deduced from rDNA cluster (including 18S rDNA, ITS1, 5.8S rDNA and 28S rDNA) (Figure 1.2); b-tub (Figure 1.3); EF-1 $\alpha$  (Figure 1.4) and lys2 (Figure 1.5).



Figure 1.2. ML trees for the *Fusarium* genus and related genera inferred from the rDNA cluster including 18S rDNA, ITS1, 5.8S rDNA and 28S rDNA. The GTR + I +  $\Gamma$  model was used as the model for nucleotide substitution. Branch lengths are proportional to the estimated number of nucleotide substitutions. The BP values over 75% are displayed on the nodes (BP; 1000 replicates) (Watanabe *et al.*, 2011).





Figure 1.3. Maximum likelihood trees for the *Fusarium* genus and related genera inferred from b-tub. The GTR + I +  $\Gamma$  model was used as the model for nucleotide substitution. Branch lengths are proportional to the estimated number of nucleotide substitutions. Each codon position was analysed separately. The BP values over 75% are displayed on the nodes (BP; 1000 replicates) (Watanabe *et al.*, 2011).





Figure 1.4. Maximum likelihood trees for the *Fusarium* genus and related genera inferred from EF-1 $\alpha$ . The GTR + I +  $\Gamma$  model was used as the model for nucleotide substitution. Branch lengths are proportional to the estimated number of nucleotide substitutions. Each codon position was analysed separately. The BP values over 75% are displayed on the nodes (BP; 1000 replicates) (Watanabe *et al.*, 2011).

UNIVERSITY of the

WESTERN CAPE



Figure 1.5. Maximum likelihood trees for the *Fusarium* genus and related genera inferred from lys2. The GTR + I + $\Gamma$  model was used as the model for nucleotide substitution. Branch lengths are proportional to the estimated number of nucleotide substitutions. Each codon position was analysed separately. The BP values over 75% are displayed on the nodes (BP; 1000 replicates). The branches with bold lines indicate the lineages in which positive selection has occurred with the p-value under the null hypothesis that the  $\omega$  (synonymous substitutions per synonymous site/non-synonymous substitutions per non-synonymous site) of the positively selected sites is equal to 1.0. (p < 0.001) (Watanabe *et al.*, 2011).

*F. proliferatum* is a fungal species within the Liseola section or Gibberella fujikuroi species complex, located within Clade 5, within the genus *Fusarium*. The genus is part of the family Nectriaceae, within the Ascomycota phylum of the Fungi kingdom.

ESTER

Moreover, *F. proliferatum* also produce mycotoxins and biologically active metabolites. These biologically active metabolites include enniatin, fusarin, moniliformin, beauvericin, fusaproliferin, and fusaric acid (Marasas *et al.*, 1986; Ritieni *et al.*, 1995; Bacon *et al.*, 1996; Herrmann *et al.*, 1996; Moretti *et al.*, 1996; Desjardins *et al.*, 2000; Leslie *et al.*, 2005a; Leslie *et al.*, 2005b).

#### 1.4. Wheat and Fusarium interactions

There are numerous *Fusarium* species that can infect wheat. Hence wheat interaction with *Fusarium* species is well documented as it induces plant stress responses, which involves many reactions including the activation of stress-related proteins involved in plant stress responses to pathogen infection. In particular, these reactions include the activation and/or production of hormones, reactive oxygen species (ROS), kinases and transcription factors, which ultimately lead to plant responses to stress (Parry *et al.*, 1995; Battalico, 1998; Desjardins *et al.*, 2007; Amato *et al.*, 2015).

#### 1.4.1 Activation of phytohormones

Primary reactions in response to biotic stresses include the activation and/or synthesis of phytohormones such as salicylic acid (SA), jasmonic acid (JA), ethylene (ET) and abscisic acid (ABA) during pathogen infection (Fujita, *et al.*, 2006; Rejeb, Pastor and Mauch-Mani, 2014). These phytohormones play a remarkable role in response to stresses and plant growth and development. Furthermore, phytohormones accumulate and activate pathways, which synergistically or antagonistically interact with each other and a reprogramming of the genetic machinery results in adequate defence reactions and an increase in plant tolerance in order to minimize the biological damage caused by the stress (Fujita, *et al.*, 2006). Moreover, SA provides resistance against the biotrophic pathogens (Durrant and Dong, 2004) while JA and ET provide resistance against necrotrophs. (Glazebrook, 2005).

Under infection, JA and ET provided resistance against *Fusarium* Head Blight (FHB) in the wheat cultivar "Sumai 3". Furthermore, ET's role in plant defence depends on the pathogen; ie. ET may promote resistance or susceptibility of the plant (Bent *et al.*, 1992, as cited in Hammerschmidt & Nicholson, 2000; Hoffman *et al.*, 1999; Thomma *et al.*, 1999). For example, ET can trigger cell death by initiating plant organ senescence which leads to cell wall softening or dissolving (Li and Yen, 2008). Contrary to this, ET was observed to probably

reduce disease development caused by necrotrophic pathogens (Wang *et al.*, 2002). SA on the other hand is a known Systemic Acquired Resistance (SAR) Trigger (Li and Yen, 2008). In addition, SA induces the expression of genes encoding pathogenesis-related (PR) proteins (Duba *et al.*, 2018), for plant defence-related reactions.

#### 1.4.2 Production of reactive oxygen species

With regards to ROS generation, this response is regarded as a shared response between biotic and abiotic stress (Apel and Hirt, 2004; Torres and Dangl, 2005). The stress-induced reactions occur either independently (reactions specific to either biotic or abiotic stress only) or they overlap between biotic and abiotic stress. Furthermore, the reactions can also be contrasting between biotic and abiotic stress.

Since plants are eukaryotes, they have mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase (MAPK) which is involved in sundry cellular processes including stress responses. In particular, in plants, MAPK is involved in abiotic and biotic stress responses, hormone responses and ROS signalling (Nakagami *et al.*, 2005; Jonak, *et al.*, 2002). Therefore, when a plant is subjected to such stress, the gene(s) modulated by this kinase will be more expressed compared to their expression under normal conditions.

Plant cellular metabolism normally produce many products, including reactive oxygen species (ROS). ROS are produced as a result of aerobic metabolism. In plant cells, ROS are formed when electrons leak from the mitochondria, plasma membranes or chloroplast into oxygen, or ROS may be formed in different cellular compartments, as a by-product of numerous metabolic pathways (Foyer and Harbinson, 1994; Foyer, 1997; Heyno *et al.*, 2011). However, when a plant suffers from biotic and/or abiotic stress, ROS are produced in excessive amounts. Then the accumulation of ROS causes progressive oxidative damage and ultimately cell death (Figure 1.7). In spite of their destructive functions, ROS are nevertheless secondary messengers

playing a role in a number of cellular processes (Figure 1.6). Therefore, the function of ROS depends on the equilibrium between ROS production and their scavenging; i.e. whether ROS will function as the cause of oxidative damage or signalling molecules (Sharma *et al.*, 2012).









**Figure 1.7. ROS at high concentrations causing oxidative damage to DNA, proteins and lipids** (Sharma *et al.*, 2012).

#### 1.5. Pathogen-induced plant diseases

Plants exist in the open/natural environment and thus are constantly confronted with different kinds of stresses, which can be categorised as biotic and abiotic stresses. Stress is when the plant is not healthy; i.e. not able to perform its physiological functions to the best of its genetic potential. Furthermore, stress can lead to disease and a plant is said to be diseased when its cells or part of the plant cannot perform its function, due to biological or environmental factors that inhibit, alter or disrupt cell function, which leads to cell malfunction or death (Agrios, 2005).

*Fusarium* species are known to be causal agents of cereal diseases (Bottalico, 1998). In particular, *Fusarium proliferatum* is known to infect a wide range of plants including cereals, fruits, legumes and ornamental plants. These include head blight and kernel black point disease in wheat (Conner *et al.*, 1996; Desjardins *et al.*, 2007; Amato *et al.*, 2015), crown and root rot

in asparagus (Elmer, 1990; Elmer, 2015), leaf spot disease in *Aloe vera* (Avasthi *et al.*, 2018), bulb rot in garlic (Dugan *et al.*, 2003; Galvez *et al.*, 2017), rice bakanae disease in rice (Desjardins *et al.*, 1997; Rong *et al.*, 2018), root rot in soybean (Hwang *et al.*, 2015), rapid death and complete dryness of the palm in date palm (Abdalla *et al.*, 2000; Ibrahim *et al.*, 2016) and leaf spot in tomato (Gao *et al.*, 2016).

#### 1.6. Plant defence strategies against ROS-induced oxidative stress

Plant defence strategies include enzymatic and non-enzymatic defence systems. When a plant is exposed to infection by a pathogen and is thus under biotic stress, the stress will induce an expedited production of reactive oxygen species (ROS). These include superoxide ( $O_2^-$ ), hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ), hydroxyl radical (OH•), alkoxy radical (RO•), peroxy radical (ROO•), singlet oxygen ( $O^2$ ) and organic hydroperoxide (ROOH) (Torres, 2010; Fujita *et al.*, 2006).

The over amassment of ROS molecules in plant cells results in oxidative stress, which ultimately cause cellular and molecular damage (Blokhina *et al.*, 2003). To counter this plants activate ROS-scavenging mechanisms that metabolize ROS to levels less toxic to plants. Furthermore, for plants to effectively counteract ROS toxicity, a balance between the generation and catabolism of ROS needs to be established as an imbalance will result in physiological challenges that lead to oxidative stress. Therefore, plants protect their cells from oxidative damage resulting from oxidative stress by activating their antioxidant defence systems. These defence systems include non-enzymatic antioxidant molecules (such as glutathione and ascorbic acid), and enzymatic antioxidant molecules such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), ascorbate peroxidase (APX) and catalase (CAT) (Dietz, 2003).

Moreover, upon stress the plant triggers sensory molecules, which in turn activate downstream responses including changes in cytoplasmic Ca<sup>2+,</sup> protein signalling and lipid signalling pathways leading to stress-responsive gene expression, protein changes and physiological changes (Apel and Hirt, 2004). However, when these downstream responses are not sufficient to activate antioxidative mechanisms inside plant cells to eliminate or detoxify harmful molecules such as ROS, the plant cells will be destroyed leading to overall loss of cellular function (Lamb and Dixon, 1997).

#### 1.6.1. Non-enzymatic antioxidant defence systems

The non-enzymatic defence systems involve the following molecules: glutathione ( $\gamma$ -glutamylcysteinyl-glycine, GSH) and ascorbate (AsA), including tocopherol, phenolic compounds, and carotenoids (Munne-Bosch and Alegre, 2002). AsA and GSH are found in the cytosol, chloroplast, peroxisomes, apoplast and mitochondria. Their basic role is the detoxification of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, however, they also can scavenge <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub>, O<sup>2-</sup> and OH• (Arora *et al.*, 2002; Asada, 2006). Furthermore, tocopherols are synthesized in the plastids, specifically in the envelopes of plastids and then stored in the plastoglobuli of the stroma (Lichtenthaler *et al.*, 1981). Moreover, tocopherols and  $\beta$ -carotene are lipid-soluble molecules that play a role in the membrane structure stability by removing lipid peroxyl radicals and oxygen free radicals (Arango and Heise, 1998; Triantaphylides *et al.*, 2008).

Tocopherols can diffuse laterally into the plane of the membrane, which allows them to react with peroxyl radicals that form during lipid peroxidation to form tocopheroxyl radicals (Munne-Bosch and Alegre 2002). Tocopheroxyl radicals can be reduced by the water-soluble metabolites, ascorbate and glutathione in a tocopherols regeneration process (Munne-Bosch and Alegre, 2002).

#### 1.6.2. Enzymatic antioxidant defence systems

These enzymatic antioxidant molecules detoxify or inactivates ROS into harmless or less harmless substances. Superoxide dismutase (SOD) detoxifies  $O_2^-$  to produce  $H_2O_2$ . Ascorbate peroxidase (APX) and catalase (CAT) then detoxify  $H_2O_2$  to produce water. These biological responses to stress are not singular pathways, they are complex circuits involving multiple pathways which involve additional cofactors and signalling molecules that regulate specific responses to environmental stimuli (Sewelam *et al.*, 2016).

In this review, not all the antioxidant molecules will be discussed. The only antioxidant molecules that will be covered are those used in the scope of the study; i.e. SOD and two peroxidases (e.g. POD and APX)

#### **1.6.2.1 Superoxide dismutase (SOD)**

SOD is a metalloenzyme and it catalyses the dismutation of superoxide to oxygen and hydrogen peroxide. SOD plays a central role in defence against oxidative stress in all aerobic organisms (Scandalios, 1993). In plants there are three reported izoenzymes of SOD, namely; iron SOD (Fe-SOD), copper/zinc SOD (Cu/Zn-SOD) and manganese SOD (Mn-SOD) (Fridovich, 1989; Racchi *et al.*, 2001). Fe- SOD is localized in chloroplasts, while MnSOD is localized in mitochondria (Jackson at al., 1978). On the other hand Cu/Zn-SOD occurs in three isoforms, localised in the cytosol, chloroplast, peroxisome and mitochondria (Bowler, Van Montagu and Inz'e, 1992; Bueno *et al.*, 1995).

In plants exposed to stress, SOD activity has been reported to increase (Sharma and Dubey, 2005; Mishra, Jha and Dubey, 2011). Furthermore, increased activity of SOD is often correlated with increased tolerance of the plant against environmental stresses. Hence an overproduction of SOD has been reported to result in enhanced oxidative stress tolerance in plants (Gupta *et al.*, 1993),

#### **1.6.2.2.** Ascorbate peroxidase (APX)

APX is a constituent of Class I of the super family of heme peroxidases (Welinder, 1992) and is modulated by  $H_2O_2$  and redox signals (Patterson and Poulos, 1995). This antioxidant molecule plays a crucial role in the control of intracellular ROS levels and is a key constituent of the AsA-GSH cycle (Welinder, 1992). In higher plants, it has been reported that APX has five enzymatically and chemically different isoenzymes (based on amino acid sequences) localised in subcellular compartments. These are stromal, mitochondrial, cytosolic, peroxisomal, and thylakoidal isoforms (Nakano and Asada, 1987; Madhusudhan *et al.*, 2003; Sharma and Dubey, 2004). APX has been observed to have a much higher affinity for  $H_2O_2$ than CAT, making it a much more efficient scavenger of  $H_2O_2$  when plants are suffering from stress. (Wang, Zhang and Allen, 1999). Under stressful conditions, a more enhanced activity of APX has been reported (Sharma and Dubey, 2005; Sharma and Dubey, 2007; Han, Liu and Yang, 2009; Maheshwari and Dubey, 2009).

#### 1.6.2.3 Peroxidase (POD)

Peroxidases are metalloproteins containing a heme prosthetic group called heme proteins that catalyse the oxidation of phenolic substrates through the associated reduction of hydrogen peroxide in the peroxidase cycle (Pourcel *et al.*, 2006). PODs are classified according to their sub-cellular localisation. Class I POD is intracellular while calls III POD is localised in the apoplast (Takahama, 2004; Passardi *et al.*, 2004).

PODs are involved in numerous physiological processes throughout the life cycle of the plant, possibly due to the high number of enzymatic isoforms (isoenzymes) and to the versatility of their enzyme-catalysed reactions (Passardi *et al.*, 2005). Furthermore, plant PODs play a role in auxin metabolism, lignin and suberin formation, cross-linking of cell wall components, phytoalexin synthesis, and the metabolism of ROS (Almagro *et al.*, 2008).

#### **1.7.** Nutrient uptake and availability (effect of the pathogen on available nutrients)

In general, plants that lack an adequate amount of nutrients will have the least resistance to pathogens. However, that tolerance can be improved by providing the deficient nutrients. Furthermore, an adequate supply of nutrients will have a relatively small impact on plant resistance in highly tolerant and intolerant cultivars (extremes). Whereas in moderate (moderately susceptible and partially resistant) cultivars, there will be a substantial impact on plant resistance. For example, the use of fertilisers at different concentrations of constituents directly affects the development, composition and growth of plants. At the same time, the fertilisers also affect microbial activity in the soil and rhizosphere, which indirectly induces cascading and secondary effects on plant resistance and tolerance to pathogens that affect the roots and shoots (Huber *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, the use of nutrients in plant-pathogen interaction has a huge impact in disease tolerance, resistance and susceptibility and thus has a big impact on agriculture at large.

Traditional agricultural systems as practiced today have many problems that raise serious concerns such as environmental degradation, food safety and pesticide resistance. These problems are due to the techniques used to counteract pathogen infection, which significantly reduce the yield of crops and thus result in economic losses and food security problems. These techniques include but are not limited to the use of environmentally harmful chemicals to eliminate pathogens in crops (Dordas, 2008). The above problems have dictated investigations on alternative methods to combat plant diseases caused by pathogens. One of these alternative methods is the supply of adequate nutrients to crops/plants. Nutrients play a significant role in plant diseases. Plants can develop resistance or tolerance to disease when they receive a balanced diet of sufficient and adequate nutrients (Gupta *et al.*, 2017).

According to Graham and Webb (1991), plant disease resistance is the ability of the host to limit the penetration, development and reproduction of the invading pathogens. While tolerance

is defined as the ability of the host plant to maintain its normal growth and development under pathogen-influenced attack (Huber *et al.*, 2012).

Although plant diseases can reduce nutrient distribution, availability, uptake and utilisation by the host plant, through soil-borne pathogens inhibiting root growth and development and thus impairing root activity which leads to an inability of roots to acquire nutrients from the soil. Nutrients on the other hand can make a plant tolerant, resistant or susceptible to pathogens. There are three main mechanisms that can increase plant resistance to pathogens. Firstly, it is the restriction of nutrient transfer to the pathogen which it requires for growth and development. Secondly, the biochemical and physiological changes that lead to higher production of inhibitory or repelling substances and lastly, the changes in anatomy (e.g. a higher degree of lignification and/or silification) (Huber *et al.*, 2012).

The relationship between host and fungal pathogen in plant-pathogen interaction is that of parasitism, defined as a condition where one organism benefits while the other suffers. To fully understand this relationship, an understanding of how the fungus secures its nutrients is necessary. However, most studies in plant-pathogen interactions have been focusing more on understanding pathogenicity, virulence factors, avirulence factors, toxins, cell wall-degrading enzymes and other mechanisms with a direct link on how the pathogen gains access to its host (Divon and Fluhr, 2006). Therefore, it is one of the points of this study to contribute to and expand present knowledge on this less studied aspect of plant-pathogen interaction.

Plant pathogens are classified according to their pathogenic lifestyle, which is based on their metabolic dependency on their host. They are classified into biotrophic, necrotrophic and hermibiotrophic. Biotrophic pathogens are those that are totally dependent on extracting nutrients on living cells of the host to complete their life cycle. The extraction process is done by means of haustoria (specialised infection structures) through differentiation (Mendgen and

Hahn, 2002). In contrast, necrotrophic pathogens are organisms that infect living cells and kill them (sometimes via the plant's programmed cell death) then extract nutrients from the dead cells. Necrotrophs possess no haustoria (Lewis, 1973). Lastly, hermibiotrophic pathogens are pathogens that begin with a biotrophic phase and follows up with a necrotrophic phase to complete their life cycle (Perfect & Green, 2001). These pathogens interact with the plant in three stages of infection, namely; germination, proliferation and sporulation (Solomon *et al.,* 2003).

Although plant disease tolerance and resistance are genetically controlled (Agrios, 2005), nutrient deficiencies, availability, toxicities and the environment can influence plant tolerance and resistance (Marschner, 1995; Krauss, 1999). Plant resistance or tolerance actually depends on three factors; the genotypes of the host and pathogen, the plant's growth stage and changes in the environment. Furthermore, these three factors are influenced by the availability of nutrients in the plant, as nutrients have well understood physiological functions; in spite of the lack of knowledge regarding dynamic interaction between nutrients and the plant-pathogen system (Huber, 1996).

Nutrients are an important aspect of disease control, as they are important for development and growth of plants and also microorganisms (Agrios, 2005). However, there is no general rule regarding their effects and influence in plant-pathogen interaction. A certain nutrient can lower the severity of a disease, while the same nutrient can raise the severity of the disease incidence of other diseases. Furthermore, that same nutrient can have a completely opposite effect on the same diseases in a different environment (Huber, 1980; Graham and Webb 1991; Marschner, 1995).

In the current study, nutrient uptake was evaluated, to see how *F. proliferatum* affects nutrient uptake in the wheat cultivars. The following macro and micro nutrients were studied: Calcium
(Ca), Magnesium (Mg), Sodium (Na), Potassium (K), Copper (Cu), Zinc (Zn), Molybdenum(Mo), Cobalt (Co), Nickel (Ni), Manganese (Mn) and Iron (Fe).

#### 1.7.1. Macro nutrients

#### Calcium (Ca)

Calcium is a macro nutrient, important for its role in cell membranes. Calcium plays a role cell membrane functioning and stability and thus a deficiency of Ca results in membrane leakage of low molecular biomolecules such as amino acids and sugars (Marschner, 1995; Thor, 2019). Furthermore, calcium is required in the middle lamella as calcium polygalacturonates for the stability of the cell wall. In this way, Ca plays a structural role and is thus a component of the cell wall. In both cases Ca deficiency increases the susceptibility of the plant to fungal pathogens (Gupta *et al.*, 2017). The leakage of low molecular biomolecules will stimulate the infection by the pathogen by providing nutrients to the pathogen. Whereas in plants, Ca deficiency will enable the fungus to invade the xylem and dissolve the cell walls and thus result in wilting (Dordas, 2008). Moreover, plant tissues with low calcium levels are known to be more susceptible to fungal pathogens than tissues with normal calcium level. Lastly, Ca has been observed to make plants more resistant against Pythium, Sclerotinia, Botrytis and *Fusarium* (Graham, 1983).

#### Potassium (K)

Potassium plays an important role in biochemical and physiological functions (Marschner 1995; Wang *et al.*, 2013). K lowers the host's susceptibility to pathogens by up to the optimal level for growth, of which beyond that point, it offers no further increase in resistance. However, more resistance can be achieved by increasing the K supply (Huber and Graham, 1999). Potassium plays a role in the synthesis of high molecular weight biomolecules such as starch, cellulose and proteins. Furthermore, the development of thicker outer walls in epidermal

cells may be promoted by potassium, which thus decreases the plants susceptibility to pathogen attack. K deficiency results in impaired synthesis of these high molecular weight biomolecules such as proteins leading to the formation of nitrogen compounds such as amides. These nitrogen compounds are used up as nutrients by the pathogens (Marschner 1995; Amtmann *et al.*, 2008; Zörb *et al.*, 2014).

#### Magnesium (Mg)

The accessibility of magnesium to the plant depends on environmental conditions such as the soil pH, microbial activity and land use, especially agricultural or horticultural activities. Furthermore, Mg accessibility also depends on the ratios with other nutrients, especially Mn, Ca and K, whose high levels may inhibit the uptake of Mg (Persson and Olsson, 2000; Debnath *et al.*, 2015). With an increase in Mg supply, it has been observed that Mg had an variable effect on increasing or decreasing the plants resistance or tolerance of six diseases, depending on the environment. Moreover, Mg decreased the tolerance and resistance of 17 diseases and increased the tolerance and resistance of 22 diseases. Therefore, magnesium's effect on disease is either the direct result of this macro nutrient's role on the physiological functions of the plant or an indirect result due to magnesium's effect on the overall health of the plant (with consideration of how Mg is affected by the environment) (Huber and Jones, 2012).

#### 1.7.2. Micro nutrients

#### Manganese (Mn)

Manganese is said to be instrumental in controlling various diseases (Huber and Graham 1999; Heckman *et al.*, 2003). Mn plays a role in photosynthesis, lignin biosynthesis and phenol biosynthesis. Mn controls the biosynthesis of lignin and suberin by activating various enzymes of the phynylpropanoid and shikimic acid pathways (Marschner, 1995). Suberin and lignin form biochemical barriers that obstruct fungal pathogen invasion (Hammerschmidt and Nicholson, 2000; Vidhyasekaran, 2004). Suberin and lignin are important because they are thought to contribute to the resistance of wheat against powdery mildew and other diseases caused by *Gaeumanomyces graminis* (Krauss, 1999). Mn also plays a role in inhibiting the introduction of aminopeptidase into the plant cells. Aminopeptidase is an enzyme which nourishes the fungus by supplying it with essential amino acids for its growth. Furthermore, Mn also inhibits pectin methylesterase, a fungal enzyme that digests cell walls of the host. Soil applications of Mn have been observed to reduce infections by *Fusarium* spp. and other fungi (in cotton) (Graham and Webb, 1991; Agrios, 2005).

#### Iron (Fe)

Iron is an important micro nutrient required by most living organisms including pathogens (Kieu *et al.*, 2012; Aznar *et al.*, 2015). Unlike other micronutrients such as Mn and Cu, Fe on the other hand is required in high concentrations by plant pathogens (e.g. *Fusarium*) than its host plant, which may give the plant an advantage over the pathogen in Fe deficient soils (Dordas, 2008). Fe plays a dual role in plant pathogen interaction. Firstly, plant hosts may use Fe to increase oxidative stress in defence response against pathogens. Secondly, Fe catalyses the formation of harmful reactive oxygen species. Therefore, due to this duality, iron plays a complex role in plant disease resistance and tolerance. Moreover, Fe deficiency and plant defence strategies share various features such as using common hormone signalling pathways and phenolic compound secretion (Aznar *et al.*, 2015).

The application of Fe has been observed to supress various plant pathogens including *Fusarium oxysporum*, reduce or control the severity of smut in wheat, rust in wheat leaves and other diseases. Nevertheless, Fe may increase or decrease the host's resistance and tolerance to disease (Graham, 1983; Graham and Webb, 1991).

#### Zinc (Zn)

Zinc plays a role in activating the Cu/Zn SOD (Dordas, 2008) which is responsible for scavenging the superoxide radical in plant cells (Gill and Tuteja, 2010). Thus as an activator of Cu/Zn SOD, Zn protects the membrane from oxidative damage by detoxifying superoxide radicals (Cakmak, 2000). Furthermore, Zn plays a role in starch and protein synthesis and thus low Zn concentrations results in an accumulation of starch and protein constituents (reducing sugars and amino acids respectively) (Römheld and Marschner, 1991; Marschner, 1995; Genc et al., 2006). When it comes to plant disease resistance and tolerance, Zn was observed to increase, decrease or have no effect on the host's susceptibility to disease (Grewal *et al.*, 1996). Therefore, actual effect of Zn in plant disease is not well understood.

#### Copper (Cu)

A number of enzymes require Cu as a component to function. These include polyphenol oxidase, diamine oxidase, etc. Cu also plays an important role in the synthesis of lignin which provides rigidity and strength to cell wall (Marschner 1995; Broadley *et al.*, 2012). Thus low Cu levels results in reduced lignification which ultimately results in a higher disease incidence. Furthermore, the lipid structure in cell membranes gets altered when Cu is deficient and this negatively affects the membrane's resistance to biotic stress (Broadley *et al.*, 2012). Small grains suffering from Cu deficiency have been reported to suffer from stem melanosis, take-all root rot, and ergot resulting from fungal infection (Marschner 1995). Cu has been shown to decrease leaf infections of wheat when it is applied to the soil. Examples are powdery mildew and ergot in wheat (Evans *et al.*, 2007).

#### 1.7.3. Other nutrients

There was not much information in the literature on nutrients such as Na, Mo, Co and Ni. However, it is important to note that plants do take up these elements and they are required for growth and development of the plant and disease resistance and control (Datnoff *et al.*, 2007). Particular nutrients have different impacts on different diseases and one nutrient can have different impacts on different diseases and on the same disease in different environments. Moreover, the impact of nutrients on plant disease and plant-pathogen interaction is influenced by the environment and plant genetics (Agrios, 2005).

#### 1.8. Aims and objectives

The aim of this study was to investigate the influence of *Fusarium proliferatum* on the physiological and biochemical responses of two wheat cultivars (SST 015 and SST 088).

#### The specific objectives of this study was to:

- Monitor the physiological changes in *Triticum aestivum* (wheat) using fresh weights, shoot and root length.
- Measure changes in chlorophyll pigments and osmolyte content.
- Quantify changes in ROS accumulation (superoxide and hydrogen peroxide) and the extent of lipid peroxidation
- Detect changes in antioxidant enzyme activities (SOD, APX and POD) using native PAGE gel electrophoresis.
- Monitor nutrient uptake in roots and shoots using ICP-OES

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

### **Materials and Methods**

#### 2.1 List of reagents

Acetone
Acrylamide/Bis (40 %)
Agarose D – 1 LE
Ammonium Persulfate (APS)
Ascorbic acid / Ascorbate
Borric acid (H3BO3)
Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) Fraction V
Bradford Reagent (1X)
Bromophenol blue
3-[(3-Cholamidopropyl)dimethylammonio]1Propanesulfonate CHAPS
Coomassie® brilliant blue (CBB) R-250
Dithiothreitol (DTT) Cleland's reagent
Ethanol 99.9%
Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA)
Evans Blue
Glacial acetic acid
Glycerol
Glycine
Hydrochloric acid (HCl)
Hydrogen peroxide (H2O2)
2-(N-Morpholino)ethanesulfonic acid (MES) hydrate
β-mercaptoethanol Amresco Methanol
Nitrotetrazolium blue chloride powder (NBT)
PageRuler <sup>TM</sup> unstained protein ladder

Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF)
Polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) MW: 40 000
Potassium cyanide (KCN)
Potassium iodide (KI)
Potassium phosphate monobasic (KH2PO4)
Potassium phosphate dibasic (K2HPO4)
Potassium sulfate (K2SO4)
Promix Organic Cypress House Trading Propan-2-ol (isopropanol)
Riboflavin
Sodium chloride (NaCl)
Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS)
Sodium hydroxide (NaOH)
Sodium molybdate (Na2MoO4)
N,N,N',N'-Tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED)
Thiobarbituric acid (TBA)
Trichloroacetic acid (TCA)
Tris(hydroxymethyl)-aminethane
Trypsin

# 2.2 Fungal culture collection and inoculum preparation

*Fusarium proliferatum* isolate (MRC 2059) was collected from the Plant Protection Institute, Agricultural Research Council (ARC), Pretoria, South Africa. The isolated fungi were cultured on potato dextrose agar (PDA) media and grown under 12 hour light and 12 hour dark conditions at 30 °C. A *F. proliferatum* spore suspension for plant inoculation was prepared in distilled water containing 0.1% Tween 20 and adjusted to two working concentrations ( $1 \times 10^5$ and  $1 \times 10^7$  spores/ml) using a hemocytometer.

#### 2.3. Seed sterilization and fungal inoculation

Seeds from two wheat cultivars (SST 015 and SST 088) (received from the Research and Technology Development services at the Department of Agriculture, Cape Town, South Africa) were heat sterilized at 49°C (waterbath) for 20 minutes, and incubated in 3% ethanol for 10 minutes at room temperature. Following sterilisation, the seeds were washed with sterile distilled water (three times) to remove residual ethanol. Sterilized seeds were transferred into sterile greiner tubes containing *F. proliferatum* inoculum of different concentrations ( $1 \times 10^5$  and  $1 \times 10^7$  spores per/ml) and incubated for 3 - 4 hours at room temperature (Imathiu *et al.*, 2014).

#### 2.4 Measuring of the rate of seed germination

Inoculated seeds (100) were germinated on moist sterile filter paper in a dark environment for a period of 5 days. The number of seeds germinated for each treatment were recorded (daily) at the same time for a period of five days. Seed germination was regarded successful with radical emergence of approximately 2 mm. The following formula was used to calculate the daily rate of seed germination and overall germination after 5 days:

#### [Rate of germination (%) = (germinated seeds / total number of seeds) x 100]

STERN

#### 2.5 Plant growth

Germinated seeds (six seeds per pot) from each treatment were transferred to 19 cm plastic pots containing a moist growth mixture of silica sand and potting soil in a 2:1 ratio. The seedlings were grown in a conditioned growth room with a 16-hour light and 8-hour dark cycle at 22°C for a period of 21-days. Each pot was watered with 200 ml of distilled water every second day until the V1 stage. At this stage, each pot was supplemented with 200 ml of 0.5X Nitrosol solution (Builders Warehouse, Cape Town, South Africa) twice a week until the end of the experiment.

#### 2.6 Analyses of plant growth parameters

The plants were carefully removed from the soil to avoid any loss of root or shoot material. The rate of plant survival for each treatment was recorded at the end of the experiment using the formula described below:

#### [No. of surviving plants = (No. of plants harvested / total number of plants planted) x 100]

Furthermore, growth analysis was performed by measuring root length, shoot length, root fresh weight (FW), and shoot fresh weight (FW) for each wheat cultivar.

#### 2.7 Measurement of shoot chlorophyll and carotenoid content

A modified method of Lichtenthaler and Wellburn (1983) was followed to estimate the chlorophyll (chlorophylls a and b) and carotenoid content in the shoots of both wheat cultivars. Ground up shoot material (100 mg) was homogenised in 1 ml of 80% acetone. Shoot extracts were vortexed and centrifuged at 10 000 rpm for 10 minutes. The supernatant was transferred to a new 2 ml centrifuge tube. This process was repeated until a clear pellet was observed. The absorbance of each supernatant fractions (200  $\mu$ l) was recorded at 470 nm, 663 nm, and 646 nm in a 96-well microtiter plate. Chlorophyll and carotenoid content was calculated using the following formulae describe below:

Chlorphyll a  $(\mu g/ml) = 12.7 (A663) - 2.69 (A646)$ 

Chlorphyll b ( $\mu g/ml$ ) = 22.9 (A663) – 4.68 (A646)

Carotenoids  $(\mu g/ml) = (1000A470 - 3.27[Chl a] - 104[Chl b]) / 227$ 

#### 2.8 Measurement of the proline content

Freshly harvested shoot material from each cultivar was homogenized in 0.5 ml of 3% (w/v) sulphosalicylic acid using a mortar and pestle. About 0.2 ml of each homogenate was mixed with 0.2 ml of glacial acetic acid to which 0.2 ml of ninhydrin was added. The reaction mixture was boiled in a water bath at 96 °C for 30 minutes and immediately cooled in an ice bath. After

cooling, 0.4 ml of toluene was added to the reaction mixture. After thorough mixing, the chromophore containing toluene was separated and absorbance of red colour developed was read at 520 nm against a toluene blank on a UV–visible spectrophotometer (ChemitoSpectrascan, UV 2600).

#### 2.9 Measurement of the superoxide content

Plant material (roots and shoots) was weighed and placed in sterile 2 ml tubes and 800  $\mu$ L of the reaction buffer (100 mM potassium cyanide, 100 mM hydrogen peroxide, 100 mM potassium phosphate and 6.4 mM NBT) was added to the material and incubated in the dark for 20 minutes. The material was crushed using a plastic pestle and centrifuged at 13 000 rpm for 20 minutes. A fraction of the supernatant (200  $\mu$ l) was transferred into a microtiter plate and the absorbance was recorded at 600 nm.

#### 2.10 Measurement of hydrogen peroxide

Approximately 100 mg of shoot and root material was pulverised in liquid nitrogen and homogenized in 500 µl of cold 5% (w/v) trichloroacetic acid (TCA). The homogenate was centrifuged at 13 000 rpm for 30 minutes at 4°C to obtain the TCA extract.

Hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) content was determined using a method adapted from Velikova *et al.*, (2000). The reaction mixture consisted of 75  $\mu$ l TCA extract, 5 mM K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, pH 5.0 and 0.5 M KI, and samples were incubated at 25°C for 20 minutes, and the absorbance measured for each sample at 390 nm. The H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> content was then calculated based on a standard curve constructed from the absorbance (390 nm) of the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> standards.

#### 2.11 Measurement of the malondialdehyde (MDA) content

MDA content in the shoots of wheat cultivars was measured using a method previous described by Velikova *et al.*, (2000). A 100 µl aliquot of the TCA extract was mixed with 400 µl of 0.5% TBA (prepared in 20% TCA). Then the mixture was incubated for 30 minutes at 95°C in a water bath. After 30 minutes, the reaction was terminated by placing the mixture on ice for 5 minutes. After which the reaction mixture was centrifuged at 12 000 rpm for 5 minutes at 4°C. The absorbance of each extract was then measured at 532 nm and 600 nm respectively. After subtracting the non-specific absorbance (600 nm) from each sample, the MDA concentration was determined using the extinction coefficient of 155 mM<sup>-1</sup> cm<sup>-1</sup> and expressed as nmol.g<sup>-1</sup> FW.

#### 2.12 Preparation of protein extracts

Shoot material (200 mg) was ground to a fine powder using liquid nitrogen and homogenised in 1 ml of extraction buffer [40 mM K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, pH 7.4, 1 mM ethylenediaminetetra acetic acid (EDTA), 5% (w/v) polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) molecular weight = 40 000]. The resulting PVP extracts were centrifuged at 12 000 rpm for 15 minutes and the supernatants used to detect individual isoforms of antioxidant enzymes. Protein concentrations were determined according to the Bradford (1976) method, using bovine serum albumin (BSA) as a standard.

#### 2.13 Quantification of the antioxidant enzyme activity within wheat shoots

Proteins were separated electophoretically on a 12% polyacrylamide native gel according to Laemmli (1970).

### 2.13.1. Superoxide dismutase (SOD)

SOD activity was detected by staining with 0.5 mM riboflavin and 2.5 mM nitroblue tetrazolium, as described by Beauchamp and Fridovich (1971), using 0.1 mg of total protein extract from each sample. The associated SOD isoform patterns were determined by incubating gels in 5 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (to inhibit both Cu/ZnSOD and FeSOD), and in 5 mM KCN (to inhibit only Cu/ZnSOD) (Archibald and Fridovich 1982). The identification of manganese SOD (MnSOD) are evident via its resistance to both KCN and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>.

#### 2.13.2. Ascobate peroxidase (APX)

APX isoforms were detected using 0.05 mg of the total PVP protein extract, and was separated on a 12% polyacrylamide PAGE gel as a modified method previously described by Mittler and Zilanskas (1993). Individual APX isoforms detection was achieved by incubating the native PAGE gels within 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) for 20 minutes in the dark followed by 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.8) containing 4 mM ascorbate and 2 mM  $H_2O_2$  for 20 minutes. The gel was then stained with 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.8) containing 209 µl TEMED and 15 mg NBT until the APX isoforms were visible.

#### 2.13.3. Peroxidase (POD)

POD isoforms were detected using 30  $\mu$ g of PVP protein extract that was separated on an 8% native PAGE gel for 2-3 hours at 90 V. The POD isoforms were visualised by staining the native PAGE gel in 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) containing 50  $\mu$ l of 32% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> for 10 minutes in the dark. The gel was then incubated in 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) containing 0.02% 3,3'-Diaminobenzidine (DAB) until the POD isoforms were visible.

### 2.14 Quantification of mineral elements by Inductively Coupled Plasma-Optical Emission Spectrometry (ICP - OES)

Shoot and root material (100 mg) was digested using nitric acid as described by Vachirapatama and Jirakiattikul. (2008). The elemental concentrations was determined using a Varian Vista Pro CCD Simultaneous ICP-OES (Varian, Australia) with certified standards (sigma; TraceCERT®).

#### 2.15 Statistical analysis

All experiments described were performed three times independently. The obtained data was analyzed using the one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and tested for significance by the Tukey-Kramer test at 5% level of significance.

#### **CHAPTER THREE**

## The effect of *Fusarium proliferatum* on seed germination and growth parameters in wheat plants

#### **3.1 Introduction**

Wheat is the second most important cereal in the world and is a source of calories as well as source of protein for humans (Cendoya *et al.*, 2018). This cereal is ground into semolina and flour which provides the basic ingredient for bakery products and pasta (Chandrika and Shahidi, 2006). Countries such as Egypt, Algeria, Israel, numerous countries in the Middle East and Eastern Europe, which rely more on wheat consumption compared to other cereals, have wheat flour per capita consumption rates that vary widely by region but nevertheless often exceeds 150 kg per year. In other countries which rely more on other cereals compared to wheat, the wheat flour per capita consumption averages 35 kg per year in Central America and 17 kg in Sub Saharan Africa. Moreover, developing countries use more than 80% of their wheat supply for food, compared to developed countries that use less than 50% (Cendoya *et al.*, 2018).

*Fusarium proliferatum* is a disease causing fungal pathogen that affect corn (Mohd Zainudin *et al.*, 2017), soybean (Chang *et al.*, 2015), allium plants (Shin and Kim, 2001) and wheat (Cendoya *et al.*, 2017). These interactions disrupt or alter physiological processes and thus the physiology of the plant and cell function (Agrios, 2005).

In this chapter, the aim was to observe the changing physiology of the plants due to pathogen infection. In particular, this chapter will focus on how the infection affects the rate of seed germination, plant viability, root and shoot length and weight, chlorophyll pigments, carotenoids and the proline content. Therefore we comparatively analysd the changes in physio-biochemical parameters of two wheat cultivars with contrasting responses to F. *proliferatum* infection.

#### **3.2 Results**

#### 3.2.1 F. proliferatum reduces the rate of germination and seed viability both wheat cultivars

Seeds were imbibed in different concentrations of *F. proliferatum* inoculum as explained in section 2.2. The results show two distinct germination patterns for these wheat cultivars: (1) For SST 015, the control showed the highest rate of germination followed by the  $10^5$  spores/ml treatment and  $10^7$  spores/ml treatment (Figure 3.1A). (2) For SST 088, seeds infected with  $10^5$  spores/ml showed a higher germination percentage than the control on the first two days, after which the control assumes the highest germination percentage until the end of the experiment (Figure 3.1B). Seeds inoculated with  $10^7$  spores/ml showed the lowest rate of germination throughout the germination experiment.



Α



Figure 3.1. The effect of *F. proliferatum* on the germination of two wheat cultivars. The graphs represent the rate of seed germination (as a percentage) under different concentrations of pathogen infection. A represents SST 015 and B represents SST 088. Error bars are representative of the mean ( $\pm$  SE) of three independent experiments from three plants per treatment in each experiment.

## UNIVERSITY of the

Overall, the rate of seed germination of both cultivars to *F. proliferatum* infection seem comparable: Under control conditions, SST 015 showed an overall germination rate of 46% relative to the 42% observed for SST 088. A similar trend was observed in response to  $10^5$  spores/ml where SST 015 showed a germination of 37% compared to the 34% of SST 088. However, in response to  $10^7$  spores/ml the rate of germination was higher for SST 088 (24%) compared to SST 015 (17%) (Figure 3.2 A and B).



**Figure 3.2. Overall rate of seed germination of wheat cultivars in response to** *F. proliferatum***.** The charts are showing the overall rate of germination for (A) SST 015 and (B) SST 088.

#### 3.2.2. F. proliferatum reduces the number of surviving infected plants

The survival of wheat plants infected with *F. proliferatum* was concentration dependent. For SST 015, plant survival was significantly reduced with an increase in *F. proliferatum* concentration (Figure 3.3 A). For SST 088, both concentrations of *F. proliferatum* reduced plant survival, however no significant change in plant survival was observed between the two *F. proliferatum* concentrations (Figure 3.3 B).



Figure 3.3. The impact of *F. proliferatum* on wheat plant survival. The graphs represent the number of plants for (A) SST 015 and (B) SST 088 that survived for 3 weeks post infection. Error bars are representative of the mean ( $\pm$  SE) of three independent experiments from three plants per treatment in each experiment.

#### 3.2.3. F. proliferatum alters the physiological parameters of two wheat cultivars

*F. proliferatum* restrict plant growth of both wheat cultivars in a concentration dependent manner. Here we measured changes in plant growth (shoot and root length) and biomass (shoot and root fresh weight and shoot and root dry weight) of two wheat cultivars to *F. proliferatum* infection. For SST 015, shoot length was significantly reduced in both treatment relative to the control, with the highest reduction observed in the 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml treatment (Figure 3.4 A). However, the reduction in shoot length for SST 088 was not concentration depended as observed for SST 015. Both *F. proliferatum* concentrations caused a significant reduction in shoot length no difference in the extent was observed between the two concentrations (Figure 3.4 B).

Similarly to what was observed for shoot length, *F. proliferatum* reduced root length in both cultivars (Figure 3.4 C-D). For SST 015, *F. proliferatum* restricted root length with the highest reduction observed in 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml (Figure 3.4 C). The same pattern was observed for length of SST 088 (Figure 3.4 D).

## UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE



Figure 3.4. The effect of *F. proliferatum* on shoot and root length of two wheat cultivars. Shoot and root length of SST 015 (A, C) and SST 088 (B, D) was measured in response to *F. proliferatum*. Error bars are representative of the mean ( $\pm$  SE) of three independent experiments from three plants per treatment in each experiment.

## UNIVERSITY of the

Based on the results obtained here, it is evident that *F. proliferatum* restricted wheat biomass as seen for changes in fresh weigh of shoots and roots. (Figure 3.5 A-D). For SST 015, *F. proliferatum* significantly reduced shoot fresh weigh with the highest reduction observed in the 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml treatment (Figure 3.5 A). Although *F. proliferatum* reduced shoot fresh weight of SST 015, the most significant reduction was observed in the 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml treatment relative to the control.

In contrast to what was observed for shoot fresh weight, the root fresh weights of both cultivars was differentially altered by *F. proliferatum* (Figure 3.5 C-D). For SST 015, contrasting

responses in fresh weight was observed to *F. proliferatum*. SST 015 plants treated with  $10^5$  spores/ml significantly increased shoot fresh weight, whereas a reduction was observed in response to treatment with  $10^7$  spores/ml relative to the control (Figure 3.5 C). On the other hand, both *F. proliferatum* concentration increase the root weight of SST 088 relative to the control (Figure 3.5 D).



Figure 3.5. The effect of *F. proliferatum* on shoot and root biomass in wheat plants. Shoot and root weight of SST 015 (A, C) and SST 088 (B, D) was measured in response to *F. proliferatum*. Error bars are representative of the mean ( $\pm$  SE) of three independent experiments from three plants per treatment in each experiment.

#### 3.2.4. F. proliferatum decreases chlorophyll pigments and carotenoid content in wheat plants

*F. proliferatum* significantly affected total chlorophyll content in SST 015 (Figure 3.6 A). Both treatments reduced pigment concentrations compared to the control, with the highest decrease -in pigment concentration observed in plants treated with 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml (Figure 3.6 A). For

SST 088, no significant differences in chlorophyll content was observed in the 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml treatment relative to the control (Figure 3.6 B). However, a slight but significant decrease in total chlorophyll content was observed in the 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml treatment.



🛛 Total Chlorophyll Content 🖾 Chlorophyll a 🗖 Chlorophyll b



Figure 3.6. *F. proliferatum* alters chlorophyll content in wheat plants. Chlorophyll content in (A) SST 015 and (B) SST 088 was measured in response to *F. proliferatum*. Error bars are representative of the mean ( $\pm$  SE) of three independent experiments from three plants per treatment in each experiment.

### UNIVERSITY of the

For carotenoid content, the pathogen seems to be affecting SST 015 more than SST 088. For SST 015, both *F. proliferatum* concentration reduced carotenoid content relative to the control with the highest reduction observed in the  $10^7$  spores/ml treatment (Figure 3.7 A). For SST 088, a significant reduction in carotenoid content was observed in the  $10^7$  spores/ml treatment relative to the control (Figure 3.7 B).



Figure 3.7. Carotenoid content in wheat plants in response to *F. proliferatum* infection. Carotenoid content in (A) SST 015 and (B) SST 088 was measured in response to *F. proliferatum*. Error bars are representative of the mean ( $\pm$  SE) of three independent experiments from three plants per treatment in each experiment

#### 3.2.5. F. proliferatum increases the proline content in wheat plants

A significant increase in proline accumulation was observed in both wheat cultivars. For SST 015, both concentrations of *F. proliferatum* increase proline content to levels much higher than the control (Figure 3.8 A). Interestingly, the highest increase in proline as observed in the  $10^5$  spores/ml treatment (Figure 3.8 A). A similar trend was observed for SST 088, albeit not the same level as observed for SST 015.



Figure 3.8. Effect of *F. proliferatum* on the proline content of wheat cultivars. Changes in proline content for (A) SST 015 and (B) SST 088 was measured in response to *F. proliferatum*. Error bars are representative of the mean ( $\pm$  SE) of three independent experiments from three plants per treatment in each experiment.

#### **3.3. Discussion**

The influence of *F. proliferatum* on the physiological responses of *Triticum aestivum* have been analysed and the results indicate that *F. proliferatum* induces stress on the host wheat plants and thus restrict the growth and development of the plant. Furthermore, in general, the results indicate that the degree of alteration (caused by the pathogen) of the physiology or physiological processes is concentration dependent.

#### 3.3.1. F. proliferatum reduces the rate of germination, seed viability and plant survival

The rate of germination occurred following two trends (Figure 3.1. A and B). A comparison between the control and the treatment  $10^5$  spores/ml in SST 088 (Figure 3.1 B) shows approximately the same germination rate with no significant differences up until the 4<sup>th</sup> day, when significant differences begin to show. While in SST 015, there were no significant differences between the control and treatment with  $10^5$  spores/ml up until the third day, after which significant changes were observed. For Trend 1 (Figure 3.1B) this may be due the pathogen activating a condition known as "the oxidative window", where ROS levels within the seed are produced to be at their optimal levels to promote seed germination and development (Bailly *et al.*, 2008).

To explain this further, it is well established that biotic stress normally promotes the production of ROS such as superoxide (Suzuki and Mittler, 2006). Furthermore, when ROS accumulate within the plant, they result in plant stress, which causes cell damage and ultimately death. However, the same ROS can promote germination and development when they are at an optimal level for germination and development. This optimal level is called the oxidative window (Bailly *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, Trend 1 (where the treatment 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml germinates at a higher rate than the control for the first two days) is probably a result of this oxidative window. Trend 2 (Figure 3.1A) on the other hand illustrate normal germination, where germination is reduced as a result of the pathogen, as hypothesised. Therefore, the results obtained in the current study are similar to those observed by Bailly *et al.*, (2008), since the pathogen is present at a lower concentration and are showing the oxidative window.

The effect of *F. proliferatum* infection seed germination is detrimental and thus affects seed viability. In a study by Burmeister and Plattner (1987), a species of *Fusarium* (*F. Iricinelwn*) decreased the rate of germination of wheat seeds. Here we presented a similar phenomenon.

Plant survival under pathogen infection can be equated to cell death or reduction of yield due to infection of the plants by the pathogen. Many studies have reported that *Fusarium* infection of cereals lead to cell death, yield loss, economical loss or loss of an entire plant (Chang *et al.*,

2015; Al Hatmi, 2016; Ray et al., 2017)

#### 3.3.2. F. proliferatum alters the physiological characteristics of two wheat cultivars

*Fusarium* species are soil borne pathogens that primarily infect the roots of a plant (Geiser *et al.*, 2004; Galvez *et al.*, 2017). Therefore, the changes that are observed for the root lengths (Figure 3.4 C and D) and weights (Figure 3.5 C and D) for both cultivars in both treatments is a result of the pathogen influencing the roots. However, the differences in how the roots are affected by the pathogen; i.e the roots of SST 015 under the treatment  $10^7$  spores/ml of pathogen compared to all the other treated roots (both SST 015 under  $10^5$  spores/ml and SST 088 both treatments) could be due to each cultivars ability to resist the infection, depending on the concentration of the pathogen.

The shoots depend on the roots to grow, as water and nutrients are absorbed by the roots and transported to the shoots. Therefore, the shoots weights (Figure 3.5 A and B) and heights (Figure 3.4 A and B) reduction compared to the control can be attributed to the alteration in their roots, which influences how the nutrients and water will be absorbed by the plant and transported into the shoots, which is ultimately a result of the pathogen altering the roots. Furthermore, a study by Burmeister and Plattner (1987) investigated the influence of *Fusarium* 

*iricinclum* on wheat showed that *Fusarium* restricted leaf and root growth, whilst also inhibiting root elongation This study support the data presented in our investigation where *F*. *proliferatum* restricted plant growth and development as seen for reduced plant height and biomass.

Hormones are important biomolecules that regulate plant growth and development. For example, gibberellins control plant growth, specifically the height and width of a plant (Tanimoto, 2012). *Fusarium* is known to directly affect the plant's hormone homeostasis by affecting the biosynthesis or metabolism of hormones in the plant or by synthesising and producing the hormone itself, which then inhibits the hormone's biosynthesis by the plant. The pathogen can produce auxins, cytokinins and gibberellins (Vrakba *et al.*, 2019). Therefore, the retardation of root and shoot growth could be as a result of the pathogen influencing the plants hormone homeostasis.

<u>3.3.3. F. proliferatum</u> decreases chlorophyll pigments and carotenoid content in wheat plants Photosynthesis is a primary metabolic process (Rojas *et al.*, 2014) of crucial importance to plant physiology (Pérez-Bueno *et al.*, 2019) and there is a direct link between photosynthetic pigments (chlorophylls a and b and carotenoids) and the plant's physiological status, more specifically the leaves (Gitelson *et al.*, 2006). Therefore, one of the markers used to assess the plant's physiological status under infection by *F. proliferatum* was to evaluate photosynthetic activity under stressed conditions by determining chlorophyll and carotenoid contents.

Chlorophyll a and b are the green pigments whose function is to absorb of solar energy for the purpose of transferring it into the photosynthetic apparatus and thus enabling photosynthesis to occur (Gitelson *et al.*, 2006; Kira *et al.*, 2015). Chlorophyll a and b together with their combined content (total chlorophyll content) were evaluated in this study. The results obtained showed a significant decrease of the chlorophylls a and b and thus overall total chlorophyll

content in both treatments and in both cultivars (Figure 3.6), with the exception of SST 088 treated with  $10^5$  spores/ml of pathogen (Figure 3.6 B). In SST 088 treated with  $10^5$  spores/ml, there were no significant differences between the infected plants and the control plants. Overall, the results show that photosynthetic activity was negatively affected by the stress caused by *F. proliferatum*. This is shown by the diminution in chlorophyll content. The diminution in chlorophyll content and thus in the photosynthetic process itself is related to changes in carbon partitioning between the roots and the stem (McCutchan and Shackel, 1992; Massacci *et al.,* 1996; DaCosta and Huang, 2006). Previously, Rajeswari *et al.,* (2014) reported that *F. oxysporum* restricted chlorophyll content in *Arachis hypogaea*. A similar trend was observed in our study where *F. proliferatum* significantly reduced chlorophyll content in both wheat cultivars (Figure 3.6).

Carotenoids are a group of natural tetraterpenoid pigments distributed widely in plants and other organisms and they are synthesised and stored in the plastids (Sun *et al.*, 2018). They range from colourless to yellow, orange, and red, with variations reflected in many fruits, flowers, and vegetables (Nisar *et al.*, 2015). Carotenoids play a necessary role in photosynthesis and photoprotection (Domonkos *et al.*, 2013; Niyogi and Truong, 2013; Hashimoto *et al.*, 2016). In addition, carotenoids form apocarotenoids, their oxidative and enzymatic cleavage products. The apocarotenoids play a role in the assembly of photosystems and light harvesting antenna complexes for photosynthesis and photoprotection, and regulation of growth and development of the plant (Cazzonelli and Pogson, 2010; Ruiz-Sola and Rodrı'guez-Concepcio'na, 2012; Havaux, 2014). In the current study, carotenoids were observed to decline in infected plants compared to the controls (Figure 3.7). This decline was observed in both treatments for each cultivar. The decline was greatest in the  $10^7$  spores/ml treatment, compared to the  $10^5$  spores/ml treatment.

The decline is an indicator that the *F. proliferatum* negatively affects the carotenoid content in wheat. In a similar study by Rajeswari *et al.*, (2014), it was reported that pathogen infection of *Arachis hypogaea* by *F. oxysporum* resulted in a decline in carotenoid content as observed in the current study.

#### 3.3.4. F. proliferatum increases the proline content in wheat plants

Proline is an osmoprotective compound, which plays a significant role in stress signalling responses (Hare and Cress, 1997; Hare *et al.*, 1998). In addition, proline also plays a role in the stabilisation of the redox balance. In this study, infection of wheat with *F. proliferatum* resulted in the accumulation of proline (Figure 3.8). For SST 088 (Figure 3.8 B), the results showed an increase in proline content of the infected plants compared to the control and the same trend is observed for SST 015 (Figure 3.8 A). Furthermore, the biggest increase was observed in the  $10^5$  spores/ml treatment in both cultivars, although there was a slight difference between the treatments in SST 088 and a significant difference between the treatments of SST 015. In a similar study using another plant host (*Cucumis sativus* L.), which was inoculated with *F. proliferatum*, similar results were obtained, where the proline content increased as a result of the inoculation (Hao *et al.*, 2005).

## WESTERN CAPE

#### **3.4 In summary**

The rate of germination under pathogen influence has been reduced, with the treatment  $10^5$  spores/ml having the lowest decline and the treatment  $10^7$  spores/ml having the highest decline. The final germination percent (FGP) reveals that the *Fusarium proliferatum* has a negative effect on the germination of *Triticum aestivum*. Furthermore, the FGP also reveals that the seeds treated with  $10^5$  spores/ml of the inoculum have a slightly higher germination rate in SST 015 compared to SST 088. While those treated with  $10^7$  spores/ml showed a much higher germination rate in SST 088 compared to SST 015. The number of plants that survived under pathogen influence showed that the pathogen was killing the plants, and SST 088 had more surviving plants compared to SST 015, especially in the plants treated with 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml, where there was a significant difference between the cultivars. The shoot and root lengths and shoot fresh weights were also negatively affected by the pathogen. The plants treated with  $10^5$ spores/ml stunted growth compared to the control with those plants treated with 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml showing an even higher reduction in plant growth. Stunted growth was, in general, observed in the roots. However, the root weights did not follow the same trend as the shoot weights, as it was expected. For example, the roots of SST 015 that were treated with 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml were short and very few and this led to this cultivar and treatment having the lowest weights. The analysis of chlorophyll content showed that for SST 015 the chlorophyll content declined with increasing pathogen concentration. Whereas in SST 088 there were no significant differences between the treatment 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml and the control. For SST 088, differences were observed in the treatment with  $10^7$  spores/ml relative to the control, where the chlorophyll content declined. When comparing the two cultivars for chlorophyll content, it was observed that there were no significant differences in chlorophyll content of the cultivars per treatment, except for SST 088 which seemed not to be affected by the treatment 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml whereas SST 015 was affected. The carotenoid content showed the same results as observed for the chlorophyll content, in all aspects. Lastly, the proline content increased in both treatments compared to the control, with the highest increase observed in the plants treated with  $10^5$  spores/ml of F. proliferatum.

These results clearly suggest that *F. proliferatum* negatively affects the physiology and physiological processes of wheat plants. However, the responses of the plants are not consistent per treatment; i.e. the results disprove the hypothesis that the higher pathogen concentration will affect the plant more compared to the lower pathogen concentration. This probably means

that the different treatments trigger different pathways and mechanisms within the plant, whose initiation depends on the amount of pathogen presented to the plant. Thus, more research in required that investigate different aspects of the *F. proliferatum*-wheat interaction, in order to understand why the responses of the plant seem to depend on the concentration of the pathogen.



## UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

## *Fusarium proliferatum* infection alters the mineral nutrient content in wheat plants

#### 4.1 Introduction

Plant and microbial interactions such as the plant-fungi interaction, is an evolutionary step that enabled the plants to form relationships or associations with the fungus to ensure healthy growth and development (Evangelisti *et al.*, 2014). However, not all microorganisms benefit the plant. Some pathogens and/or their products can disrupt the plant plasma and organellar membranes or interfering with enzyme activity (Junker and Tholl, 2013). In fact, plant-microbe interaction can be classified in three ways; namely, beneficial, detrimental, or unknown based on their effects on plant growth, health and development (Ntoukakis & Gifford, 2019). *F. proliferatum* can be classified as a detrimental microbe to wheat, based on the pathogen's effect on the physiology and biochemistry of the wheat cultivars. Therefore, investigating the plant mineral nutrient content will provide more insight on how the *F. proliferatum* affects wheat plants.

Mineral nutrients in plants is classified into micro-nutrients and macro-nutrients. Micronutrients are the elements, which are present within plants in minute quantities. These minute elements are also known as trace elements. Macronutrients on the other hand are elements required by the plant in large quantities. Examples of macronutrients include Potassium (K), Magnesium (Mg), Sodium (Na) and Calcium (Ca). On the other hand micronutrients include Copper (Cu), Iron (Fe), Manganese (Mn) and Zinc (Zn). These elements are essential for plant growth and development (Lin *et al.*, 2011; Sharma and Dietz, 2006).

Plant mineral nutrients are often simply understood as plant food necessary for growth and development. However, mineral nutrition also plays a role in plant resistance or susceptibility to pathogens. Furthermore, mineral nutrients may also indirectly affect plant resistance and susceptibility via the pathogen immobilising nutrients in the soil, which makes them unavailable to the plant. Moreover, pathogens can infect plant tissues and thus interfere with the utilisation or translocation of nutrients, which induces nutrient deficiencies or toxicities (Schumann *et al.*, 2017).

In this chapter, the effects of *F. proliferatum* on the accumulation of macro- and micronutrients in wheat plants were investigated. The chosen concentration of the pathogen was  $1 \ge 10^7$ spores/ml because it is the highest concentration. It was hypothesised that, the higher the concentration, the greater the effect of the pathogen will be on the host plant's mineral nutrient status.

#### 4.2 Results

4.2.1. F. proliferatum alters the macronutrient content in wheat plants

#### Calcium (Ca)

For SST 015, contrasting responses in calcium accumulation in shoot and roots was observed in response to pathogen infection. Calcium content in the shoots of SST 015 was reduced by *F. proliferatum* whereas an increase was observed in the roots, relative to the control. For SST 088, calcium accumulation in both shoots and roots was significantly reduced by *F. proliferatum* relative to the control (Table 4.1 A and B).

#### Potassium (K)

The results showed that K content in the shoots and roots of SST 015 was reduced by F. proliferatum relative to the control. A similar trend was observed for SST 088 where a significant reduction in shoot and root K content (Table 4.1 A and B). Therefore, F *.proliferatum* caused a significant reduction in K content in the shoot and roots of both cultivars. However, the reduction in K content was much higher in SST 088 compared to SST 015 shoots.

#### Magnesium (Mg)

*F. proliferatum* restricted Mg accumulation in the shoots of SST 015 when compared to the control. Similarly, Mg content in the shoot of SST 088 was reduced in response to *F. proliferatum* albeit not to the level as observed for SST 015 (Table 4.1 A and B).

## Table 4.1A. Effect of *F. proliferatum* on the element content within the shoots of SST 015 and SST 088.

	Shoots of SST 015 Control and Infected		Shoots of SST 088 Control and Infected	
Element	Av. Conc. (in ppm)	Av. Conc. (in ppm)	Av. Conc. (in ppm)	Av. Conc. (in ppm)
Ca	$6,66 \pm 0,04$	$5{,}68 \pm 0{,}05$	$9,\!39\pm0,\!04$	$6,\!28 \pm 0,\!03$
K	$81,\!01\pm0,\!30$	$75,\!30\pm0,\!05$	$103,\!97\pm0,\!33$	$74,\!25\pm0,\!31$
Mg	$3,51 \pm 0,06$	$2,\!80\pm0,\!01$	$4,16 \pm 0,04$	$2,80 \pm 0,01$
	UNI	V LIND	1110/1	ne

Table 4.1B. Effect of *F. proliferatum* on the element content within the roots of SST 015 and SST 088.

	Roots of SST 015 Control and Infected		Roots of SST 088 Control and Infected	
Element	Av. Conc. (in ppm)	Av. Conc. (in ppm)	Av. Conc. (in ppm)	Av. Conc. (in ppm)
Ca	$28,\!40\pm0,\!07$	$30,82\pm0,09$	$24,66 \pm 0,14$	$19,54 \pm 0,04$
K	$50,\!45\pm0,\!08$	$48,\!24\pm0,\!02$	$45,24 \pm 0,01$	$41,\!66 \pm 0,\!08$
Mg	$3,56 \pm 0,03$	$4,29 \pm 0,03$	$3,56 \pm 0,03$	$3,38 \pm 0,01$

#### Copper (Cu)

Copper (Cu) content in the shoots and roots of SST 015 and SST 088 was measured in response *F. proliferatum* (Table 4.2 A and B). The results presented in Table 4.2 (A and B) shows that *F. proliferatum* did not alter Cu accumulation in the roots of SST 015, whereas there was a slight increase in the shoots. For SST 088, a slight decrease in Cu was observed in both the shoots and roots when compared to the controls. The more pronounced reduction in Cu was observed in the shoots of SST 088.

#### Iron (Fe)

The Fe content was observed to slightly decrease in the shoots of both cultivars. However, in the roots of SST 015 there was an increase in Fe content, compared to the control. For the roots of SST 088, a significant decrease in Fe content was observed in response to *F. proliferatum* (Table 4.2 A and B).

#### Manganese (Mn)

The results indicate a decline in the Mn content of the infected roots of both cultivars compared to their respective controls (Table 4.2 A and B). Furthermore, the SST 088 showed a larger decrease in Mn content compared to SST 015, which had a very slight decrease. The shoots showed a similar trend. Both cultivars Mn content within the infected plants had decreased significantly, with that of SST 088 more pronounced.

#### Zinc (Zn)

A significant decrease in Zn content in the shoots of SST 088 was observed in the *F*. *proliferatum* treatment relative to the control. The Zn content in the roots of SST 015 plants had no difference compared to their control. The roots of both cultivars showed significant decreases in their Zn content compared to their respective controls, with SST 088 having a more pronounced decrease (Table 4.2 A and B).

	Shoots of SST 015 Control and Infected		Shoots of SST 088 Control and Infected	
Element	Av. Conc. (in ppm)	Av. Conc. (in ppm)	Av. Conc. (in ppm)	Av. Conc. (in ppm)
Cu	$0,\!10\pm0,\!00$	$0,12\pm0,00$	$0,16\pm0,00$	$0,\!10\pm0,\!00$
Fe	$0{,}20\pm0{,}00$	0,19 ±0,00	$0{,}29\pm0{,}00$	$0{,}20\pm0{,}00$
Mn	$0,\!25\pm0,\!00$	$0,21\pm0,00$	$0,34 \pm 0,00$	$0,22 \pm 0,00$
Zn	$0,\!27\pm0,\!00$	$0,\!27\pm0,\!00$	$0,29 \pm 0,00$	$0,\!18\pm0,\!00$

Table 4.2A. *F. proliferatum* alters the element content within the shoots of SST 015 and SST 088.

Table 4.2B. *F. proliferatum* alters the element content within the roots of SST 015 and SST 088.

	Roots of SST 015 Control and Infected		Roots of SST 088 Control and Infected	
Element	Av. Conc. (in ppm)	Av. Conc. (in ppm)	Av. Conc. (in ppm)	Av. Conc. (in ppm)
Cu	$0{,}08\pm0{,}00$	$0{,}08\pm0{,}00$	$0,\!11 \pm 0,\!00$	$0,\!09\pm0,\!00$
Fe	$1,60 \pm 0,02$	$1,64 \pm 0,03$	$2,11 \pm 0,03$	$1,\!44 \pm 0,\!00$
Mn	$0,\!68 \pm 0,\!00$	$0{,}61\pm0{,}00$	$0,94 \pm 0,01$	$0,81 \pm 0,00$
Zn	$0,\!90\pm0,\!01$	$0,\!73\pm0,\!01$	$1,\!06\pm0,\!01$	$0,\!76\pm0,\!00$

## **UNIVERSITY** of the

## 4.3 Discussion

The effect of mineral nutrients on plant disease is based on the following. Firstly, the observed effects of fertilization on a specific disease's incidence or severity. Secondly, the comparison of mineral concentrations in healthy or resistant tissues compared with diseased or susceptible tissues and thirdly conditions influencing the availability of a specific nutrient with disease (Gupta *et al.*, 2017). This method of studying the effect of mineral nutrients on diseases excludes other factors such as environmental conditions, biological activity and the growth stage of the plant, which also play a role (Meena *et al.*, 2017). Mineral nutrients play a role of either making a plant more resistant or susceptible to disease by their participation in

physiological and biochemical processes within the plant, which play a role in how the plant responds to pathogens (Marschner 1995).

#### 4.3.1. F. proliferatum alters the mineral macronutrient content in wheat

#### Calcium (Ca)

Ca inhibits the formation of pectolytic enzymes produced by pathogens (Gupta *et al.*, 2017). Furthermore, Ca affects the susceptibility of plants in two ways. Firstly, adequate Ca levels within the plant play a role in the functioning and stability of plant membranes and thus when Ca levels drop, there is membrane leakage of low-molecular weight compounds, e.g. sugars and amino acids, from the cytoplasm to the apoplast, which promotes infection by pathogens (Marschner, 1995). Secondly, Ca is present as calcium polygalacturonates within the cell wall structure, which are essential within the middle lamella for cell wall stability (Dordas, 2008). Therefore, Ca plays a role in the formation of rigid cells in plants (Gupta *et al.*, 2017) which prevents the dissolution of the middle lamella by pathogens which thus enable penetration and infection by the pathogens (Marschner 1995).

When Ca levels drop as observed in the infected roots of SST 088 and the shoots of both SST 015 and SST 088, this decline indicates an increased susceptibility to various fungi (Dordas, 2008). Furthermore, Dordas (2008) explained that the fungus preferentially intrudes the xylem and cause cell wall disintegration of the conducting vessels which results in symptoms such as wilting. Therefore, the above information suggests that increased Ca levels under infection promotes the tolerance of the host plant to their respective pathogen, as observed in Table 4.1B.

#### Potassium (K)

Potassium plays a role in physiological and biochemical processes within the plant (Marschner 1995; Wang *et al.*, 2013). K act as a catalyst in ion transportation in plants. Furthermore, in plants K plays an essential role in the synthesis of starch, cellulose and proteins. Therefore,

when potassium levels are low or have decreased within a plant (as observed in the current study where K levels have decreased in both cultivars and in both roots and shoots), the cellulose becomes leaky, sugars and amino acids accumulate within the apoplast (Shumann, 2017).

Schumann (2017) showed that low K levels results in shorter root length and accumulation of amino acids, among other things. These defined characteristics were observed in the physiological data presented in this study. Therefore, a plant needs adequate levels of K under infection, so as to acquire an increased resistance towards parasites or pathogens (Schumann, 2017). Moreover, it has been reported that increased levels of K lowers the severity of *F*. *oxysporum* (Dordas, 2008). So perhaps increased levels of K would enhance the resistance of wheat to *F. proliferatum*. Since plants with decreased levels of K have high susceptibility to parasitic diseases because of the metabolic functions of K in plant physiology (Dordas, 2008).

#### Magnesium (Mg)

Magnesium is a component of chlorophyll as its central atom and thus plays a major role in photosynthesis by capturing light (Marschner 1995). In addition, Mg plays a critical role in transporting the phloem export of photosynthates. When Mg levels drop or are lower than normal (as also indicated by the results obtained in this study which show that Mg levels decreased in the roots of SST 088 and the shoots of both cultivars), amino acids and sucrose get deposited in the leaves of the plant and thus create a conducive environment for disease-causing pathogens to attack the plant (Huber and Jones 2013). On the other hand, some studies have concluded that the effect of Mg within the plant is to reduce disease severity of crops like wheat citrus (Debona *et al.*, 2016).

Mg-induced resistance and susceptibility depends on the factors that govern the uptake of Mg from the soil by the host plant. One of these factors is K-rich soils, which induce Mg deficiency

because of antagonistic interactions (Debnath *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, the availability of Mg within the plant was not only influenced by the pathogen, but also other elements that were present in the soil the plant grew in.

#### 4.3.2. F. proliferatum alters the mineral micronutrient content of wheat plants

#### Zinc (Zn)

Zinc has a crucial function of activating various enzymes involved in metabolic pathways, especially in starch and protein synthesis (Gupta *et al.*, 2017). In addition, Zn also plays a role in maintaining the integrity of biomembranes (Marschner 1995; Huber *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, lower Zn levels may result in the leakage of low-molecular-weight compounds, which create an environment suitable for the creation of a feeding substrate for the pathogen, because of this leakage (Graham and Webb 1991; Marschner 1995; Huber *et al.*, 2012).

The results obtained in this study shows that Zn content within the plant decreased in the infected plants compared to their respective controls. Marschner (1995) discusses these results and state that reduced Zn concentrations resulted in reduced sugars and amino acid accumulation. Therefore, adequate or elevated Zn concentrations within the plant results in increased tolerance to pathogens, while low or decreased concentrations lead to increased susceptibility of the host plant to that particular pathogen. An example of this is the application of Zn on wheat, which increased the plant's tolerance to *Fusarium solani* (Bolle-Jones and Hilton, 1956; Khoshgoftarmanesh *et al.*, 2010; Gupta *et al.*, 2017).

#### Manganese (Mn)

Manganese plays a role in the biosynthesis of phenol compounds and lignin (Graham and Webb 1991; Marschner 1995; Broadley *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, the ability of the roots to inhibit or resist fungal hyphae penetration into the roots depends on the level of Mn within the plant (Graham and Webb 1991). Thus, when Mn levels are low within the plant, as observed in the
results obtained in this study (for both cultivars and in both infected roots and shoots), such a plant has increased susceptibility to the invading pathogen.

Manganese enhances plant resistance to disease by activating plant peroxidases in the apoplast (Gupta *et al.*, 2017). Furthermore, Mn is said to control a number of pathogenic diseases (Huber and Graham 1999; Heckman *et al.*, 2003). Therefore, higher or increased Mn levels within the plant promote resistance to disease, while decreased or low levels of Mn promote increased susceptibility to pathogens.

#### Iron (Fe)

Iron is an interesting micromolecule in that it is required by both host plant and pathogens (Kieu *et al.*, 2012; Aznar *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, Fe has a complex role in plant-pathogen interaction. To elaborate, ROS formation is catalysed by Fe and at the same time the host plant may use Fe to increase oxidative stress in defence responses against pathogens. Therefore, plant response to iron deficiency and plant defence against pathogens share numerous features such as the use of common hormone signalling pathways and the secretion of phenolic compounds (Aznar *et al.*, 2015). Fe therefore has negative and positive effects on the host disease resistance and the host alone (Gupta *et al.*, 2017). The results obtained for Fe concentration within the plants indicated that Fe concentration increased in the infected roots of SST 015 compared to the control, while the infected roots of SST 088 and the shoots of both cultivars had decreased Fe concentrations (Table 4.2 A and B).

Due to this dual function of Fe, the effect of increased or decreased iron concentration is unclear and thus remains a contentious issue. However, what is clear is the effect of the pathogen on the Fe accumulation in the plant. To elaborate more on the uncertainty of the effect of reduced or increased Fe concentration, with reference to Fe susceptibility or resistance of wheat to *F*. *proliferatum*, the Fe increase observed could be either for fuelling cells with Fe to reach metabolic needs that could be increased by pathogen attack or to accumulate ROS at the site of infection (Azna *et al.*, 2015)

### Copper (Cu)

Decreased Cu levels in plants result in the alteration of lipid structure within the cell membrane, which is essential for resistance to biotic stress (Broadley *et al.*, 2012). In addition, Cu is a component of numerous enzymes crucial for the synthesis of lignin, which ensures membrane rigidity and stress of the cell wall (Marschner 1995; Broadley *et al.*, 2012). The results obtained in this study shows that, there was an increase in Cu accumulation of both infected roots and shoots of SST 015, compared to the controls. While there was a decrease of Cu accumulation in the infected roots and shoots of SST 088, compared to their controls (Table 4.2 A and B).

Low Cu levels within the plant results in reduced lignification and thus less resistant cell walls. Hence, making the plant more susceptible to disease. While the opposite is true with increase Cu levels (Marschner, 1995; Evans *et al.*, 2007; Gupta *et al.*, 2017).

## 4.4 In summary

Most studies of mineral nutrients focus on the application of these minerals in soils or the exogenous application of a particular element on a specific part of the host plant, in order to test the influence of that element in plant-pathogen interactions. However, despite the fact that an element is applied in the soil or exogenously, that element will be absorbed by the roots or leaves of the plant and its effect will be within the plant, influencing the susceptibility or tolerance of the host plant to its pathogen. In the current study, the effect of *F. proliferatum* on the mineral nutrient status of the plant was investigated to demonstrate which elements play a role in plant defence against the pathogen. Therefore, in a way this chapter provides integrated information, on how the pathogen affects the nutrient status of the host plant and the role these

mineral elements play on the susceptibility and/or tolerance of the plant during pathogen infection (using literature).

Based on the results obtained here, SST 015 appears to be more resilient towards the presence of *F. proliferatum* when compared to SST 088 given the accumulation of Ca, Mg, and Fe in the roots of SST 015, with enhanced levels of Cu in both roots and shoots. However, all mineral elements decreased in the root and shoots of SST 088 during infection.



WESTERN CAPE

## **CHAPTER FIVE**

# *F. proliferatum* differentially alters ROS accumulation and antioxidant capacity in wheat plants

## **5.1 Introduction**

Plant protection strategies need to be enhanced in order to protect wheat from pathogens, as wheat is the second most important cereal in the world (Cendoya *et al.*, 2018). These pathogens include fungi, if not controlled can lead to various plant diseases (Choi *et al.*, 2018) and significant field losses (Singh and Sunder, 2012). Exposure to disease causing pathogens activate stress signalling, which disrupt essential metabolic processes such as photosynthesis, resulting in phytotoxic reactions such as lipid peroxidation (Apel and Hirt, 2004) and ultimate cell death (Gill and Tuteja, 2010).

Plants have numerous defence mechanisms to counteract the stress signals due to infection (Ferrigo *et al.*, 2015; Andersen *et al.*, 2018). These defence mechanisms are aimed at inhibiting or restricting the damage that will result, should the infection progress without intervention. This plant resistance can be characterised by the formation of incomplete reduction of oxygen to water molecules, which are the basis for the formation of superoxide, hydrogen peroxide and other ROS markers (Magbanua *et al.*, 2007; Kumar *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, these ROS act as second messengers in many plant responses such as stomatal closure, lignin biosynthesis and programmed cell death, which play a role in inhibiting or restricting fungal pathogen infection. However, for ROS to act as second messengers, they must be at low concentrations (Sharma *et al.*, 2012). At high concentrations, ROS cause oxidative damage to fungal and/or plant cells (Demidchik *et al.*, 2014). Thus, the accumulation of ROS is mitigated by antioxidant enzymes which include superoxide dismutase (SOD), ascorbate peroxidase (APX),

peroxidases (POD) among others, that are known to play a role in defence against various stresses (Kumar *et al.*, 2009). Debona at al. (2012), showed an increase in antioxidant enzymes in both the susceptible and partially resistant wheat cultivars in response to *Pyricularia oryzae* infection. Therefore, quantifying the antioxidant enzyme activity in this study may provide insight into the effects of *F. proliferatum* infection in wheat plants.

Therefore, the aim of this chapter was to comparatively analyse ROS accumulation and antioxidant capacity of ROS metabolising enzymes in two wheat cultivars (SST 015 and SST 088), to *F. proliferatum* infection.

#### 5.2. Results

### 5.2.1. F. proliferatum increases superoxide content in wheat plants

The results showed that *F. proliferatum* increased superoxide content in the shoots of both wheat cultivars (Figure 5.1). Superoxide content in the shoots of SST 015 was significantly augmented by *F. proliferatum* relative to the control, with the highest increased observed in the  $10^5$  spores/ml treatment (Figure 4.1 A). For SST 088, *F. proliferatum* increased (in a concentration dependent manner) superoxide content in the shoots relative to the control. With an increase in *F. proliferatum*, an increase in superoxide content was observed (Figure 4.1 B).



Figure 5.1. The effect of *F. proliferatum* on superoxide content in wheat shoots. Superoxide content for (A) SST 015 and (B) SST 088 was measured in response to *F. proliferatum*. Error bars are representative of the mean ( $\pm$  SE) of three independent experiments from three plants per treatment in each experiment.

The results obtained for the roots show the same trend of increasing superoxide content as the shoots for both cultivars. The highest increase is observed for plants infected with the lowest pathogen concentration of 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml, while the lowest increase was observed in the highest pathogen concentration of 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml. This was observed in both cultivars. More specifically, for SST 015, the increase observed in plants treated with 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml was approximately twice as high when compared to those treated with 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml, while the increase observed for 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml was approximately twice as high when compared to those treated with 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml, while the control (Figure 5.2 A). For SST 088, the concentration of superoxide observed in plants treated with 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml was also twice as high as in those treated with 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml and the plants treated with 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml had an increase that was almost ten times higher when compared to the control (Figure 5.2 B). However, SST 088 has a much higher superoxide content compared to SST 015; i.e. SST 088 had an increment that was five times higher and four and a half times higher for the treatments 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml and 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml, respectively (Figure 5.2)



Figure 5.2. The effect of *F. proliferatum* infection on the superoxide content in wheat roots. Superoxide content for (A) SST 015 and (B) SST 088 was measured in response to *F. proliferatum*. Error bars are representative of the mean ( $\pm$  SE) of three independent experiments from three plants per treatment in each experiment.

## 5.2.2. Changes in hydrogen peroxide content in response to F. proliferatum infection

For SST 015 the results indicate an increment in hydrogen peroxide content of the shoots (Figure 5.3A), with the highest increment observed in the 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml treatment and the lower increment in the 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml treatment. The shoots of SST 088 showed a similar trend (Figure 5.3B). However, by comparing hydrogen peroxide accumulation in both cultivars, the results shows that the highest increment for 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml treatment was observed in SST 088. While the highest increment in SST 015 was observed in 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml treated plants.



Figure 5.3. The effect of *F. proliferatum* infection on the hydrogen peroxide content in the shoots of *Triticum aestivum* L. Hydrogen peroxide content for (A) SST 015 and (B) SST 088 was measured in response to *F. proliferatum*. Error bars are representative of the mean ( $\pm$  SE) of three independent experiments from three plants per treatment in each experiment.

The results obtained for the roots showed an increase in the hydrogen peroxide content in both treatments for both cultivars (Figure 5.4 A and B). Contrary to the shoots, the trend of increase is as expected. The plants inoculated with  $10^7$  spores/ml showed the highest increase in hydrogen peroxide content, while those inoculated with  $10^5$  spores/ml have the lowest increment. When comparing the cultivars, SST 015 treated with  $10^5$  spores/ml show a much higher increase when compared to SST 088 of the same treatment. While SST 015 treated with  $10^7$  spores/ml show a lower increment as compared to SST 088 of the same treatment. These results indicate that there are contrasting responses, per treatment, in the hydrogen peroxide content in response to *F. proliferatum*.



Figure 5.4. The effect of *F. proliferatum* infection on the hydrogen peroxide content in the roots of wheat plants. Hydrogen peroxide content for (A) SST 015 and (B) SST 088 was measured in response to *F. proliferatum*. Error bars are representative of the mean ( $\pm$  SE) of three independent experiments from three plants per treatment in each experiment.

#### 5.2.3. Changes in malondialdehyde (MDA) content in response to F. proliferatum infection

The extent of lipid peroxidation was measured in the shoots and roots of wheats plants infected with *F. proliferatum*. The results showed that *F. proliferatum* increased MDA contents in shoots of both wheat cultivars relative to their controls (Figure 5.5). For SST 015, both concentrations of *F. proliferatum* enhanced MDA content with the highest increased observed in the lower pathogen concentration (Figure 5.5 A). For SST 088, *F. proliferatum* also

increased the shoot MDA levels relative to the control albeit not to the level observed for SST 015 (Figure 5. B). Contrasting to what was observed for SST 015, the increase in MDA was directly linked to an increase in pathogen concentration for SST 088.





Similar to what was observed in the shoots, *F. proliferatum* increased the MDA content in the roots of both cultivars (Figure 5.6). A gradual increase in MDA content was observed with an increase in pathogen concentration. For SST 015 (Figure 5.6A), a slight increase in MDA content was observed in the 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml treatment relative to the control. SST 015 plants treated with 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml showed a more pronounced increase in MDA content (in roots) relative to the control. For SST 088, an increase in MDA content was observed with an increase pathogen concentration (Figure 5.6B). When comparing the two cultivars, there were no significant changes between the cultivars. The same trend of increasing MDA content with increasing pathogen concentration was observed.



Figure 5.6. Changes in root MDA content in response to *F. proliferatum* infection. Root MDA contents for (A) SST 015 and (B) SST 088 was measured in response to *F. proliferatum*. Error bars are representative of the mean ( $\pm$  SE) of three independent experiments from three plants per treatment in each experiment.

## 5.2.4. F. proliferatum differentially alters SOD activity in two wheat cultivars

SOD enzymatic activity was detected using native polyacrylamide gel eletrophoresis and individual isoforms characterised using potassium cyanide and hydrogen peroxide. Due to the lack of protein obtained from the root tissues of both cultivars, SOD was only detected in the shoot material.

For SST 015, three distinct SOD isoforms were detected (Figure 5.7 A). These isoforms were characterised as manganese SOD (MnSOD), copper zinc SOD (Cu/ZnSOD) and iron SOD (FeSOD) respectively. The results showed that *F. proliferatum* differentially regulates the expression (band intensity) of each isoform. The activity of MnSOD diminished in response to *F. proliferatum* (at a concentration of 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml) whereas the high concentration (10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml) did not alter MnSOD activity when compared to the control (Figure 5.7A). Similar trends were observed for Cu/ZnSOD and FeSOD. For SST 088, an increase in MnSOD activity was observed in response to *F. proliferatum* (10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml) compared to the control (Figure 5.7B). *F. proliferatum* at 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml did not alter MnSOD activity was observed for Cu/ZnSOD and FeSOD. For SST 088, an increase in MnSOD activity were compared to the control (Figure 5.7B). *F. proliferatum* at 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml did not alter MnSOD activity were compared to the control (Figure 5.7B). *F. proliferatum* at 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml did not alter MnSOD activity were compared to the control (Figure 5.7B). *F. proliferatum* at 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml did not alter MnSOD activity when compared to the control (Figure 5.7B).

the control. It is interesting to note the contrasting responses of two wheat cultivars to *F*. *proliferatum* infection. The high concentrations of *F*. *proliferatum* (in both cultivars) did not alter SOD activity when compared to the control whereas the lower concentration differentially regulated SOD activity.



**Figure 5.7.** Changes in SOD enzymatic activity in the shoots of two wheat cultivars. The in-gel detection assays show the presence of individual SOD isoforms for SST 015 (A) and SST 088 (B).

## WESTERN CAPE

#### 5.2.5. The effect of F. proliferatum on ascorbate peroxidase (APX) activity in wheat plants

APX activity was detected in the shoots of two wheat cultivars (SST 015 and SST 088). In total four APX isoforms was detected in the shoots of SST 015 and SST 088 (Figure 5.8). For SST 015, APX 1 activity was significantly reduced in the 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml treatment, with no change observed in the 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml treatment relative to the control (Figure 5.8A). APX 2 activity was only detected in the control and 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml treatment. The activity for APX 2 in the 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml treatment was slightly reduced when compared to the control. A similar trend was

observed for APX 3. For APX 4, SST 015 plants treated with 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml showed reduced activity when compared to the control whereas the opposite was observed in the 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml treatment. For SST 088, the enzymatic activities of all four APX isoforms (APX 1-4) was significantly increased in response to 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml when compared to the control (Figure 5.8B). On the other hand, APX activity of the 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml treatment (as seen for all four isoforms) was decreased when compared to the control.



**Figure 5.8.** *F. proliferatum* differentially alters APX activity in two wheat cultivars (SST 015 and SST 088). The in-gel detection assays show the presence of individual APX isoforms for SST 015 (A) and SST 088 (B) in response to *F. proliferatum*.

## 5.2.6. The effect of F. proliferatum on peroxidase (POD) activity in wheat plants

POD activity was detected in the shoots of two wheat cultivars (SST 015 and SST 088). For each cultivar, five isoforms were detected (Figure 5.9). For SST 015, *F. proliferatum* (both concentrations) increase POD activity relative to the control (Figure 5.9A). A slight but significant increase in POD activity was observed in both treatments relative to the control for

POD 1. For POD 2, *F. proliferatum* increase the enzymatic activity with 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml showing the highest activity relative to the control. A similar trend was observed for POD 3, POD4 and POD 6. Interestingly, POD 5 was only detected in the *F. proliferatum* treatments and not the control.

In contrast to what was observed for SST 015, the POD enzymatic activity for SST 088 decreased in response to *F. proliferatum* (Figure 5.9B). POD 1 was significantly reduced in the *F. proliferatum* treatments. A similar trend was observed for POD 2 and POD 3. Interestingly, POD 4 and POD 5 was only detected in the control and not the *F. proliferatum* treatments. Although a decrease in activity was observed for POD 6 in both *F. proliferatum* treatments, with  $10^5$  spores/ml showing the highest level of reduction. When comparing the two cultivars, in SST 015 showed an overall increase in POD activity, while SST 088 showed an overall decrease in POD activity.



**Figure 5.9.** *F. proliferatum* differentially alters POD activity in two wheat cultivars (SST 015 and SST 088). The in-gel detection assays show the presence of individual POD isoforms for SST 015 (A) and SST 088 (B) in response to *F. proliferatum*.

#### **5.3 Discussion**

The results presented above investigated the effect of *F. proliferatum* on the oxidation state and antioxidant capacity of two wheat cultivars. Changes in ROS biomarkers (superoxide, hydrogen peroxide) and the extent of lipid peroxidation was measured in the shoots and roots of two wheat cultivars (SST 015 and SST 088). To measure the extent of oxidative damage caused by these ROS biomarkers due to pathogen infection, we detected and characterised differential changes in antioxidant enzyme activity to determine which isoforms contribute to total antioxidant capacity in wheat plants.

#### 5.3.1. F. proliferatum augments ROS accumulation in wheat plants

## 5.3.1.1. F. proliferatum infection increases the concentration of superoxide

Biotic stress promotes the production of ROS such as superoxide (Suzuki and Mittler, 2006). ROS production is one of the first responses of plant tissues to elicitors and attack by pathogens (Chen *et al.*, 2015). According to the Foyer-Halliwell-Asada pathway superoxide ( $O_2^-$ ) is the first ROS marker that is produced in plants (Yadav, 2010) and it has the ability to stimulate the production of other ROS molecules such as H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>.

The results obtained here shows an increase in the  $O_2$  content of the infected plants compared to their respective controls. The highest increase was observed in the plants treated with the lowest concentration of *F. proliferatum*, with the exception of the shoots of SST 088, where the highest increase of  $O_2$  was observed in plants treated with the highest concentration of *F. proliferatum*. When comparing the cultivars, the highest increase of  $O_2$  in the roots was observed in SST 088, while in the shoots it was observed in SST 015. The results obtained in this study are similar to those reported by Waśkiewicz *et al.*, (2014) where susceptible and resistant wheat cultivars were infected with *Fusarium graminearum*. The results obtained in that study showed increased levels of superoxide after infection. Furthermore, the results showed fluctuating levels of  $O_2^-$  in the resistant cultivars. In the current study, SST 088 also showed fluctuating levels of  $O_2^-$ . These fluctuations were attributed to the capturing of electrons originating from  $O_2^-$  by semiquinones (Waśkiewicz *et al.*, 2014). In order to understand the trends of  $O_2^-$  increments in infected plants versus the uninfected plants, it was logically inevitable to determine the activity and profile of superoxide dismutase (SOD) because it is associated with superoxide scavenging and removal.

## **5.3.1.2.** Hydrogen peroxide $(H_2O_2)$ accumulation in wheat plants in response to *F*. proliferatum infection

H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is known to have a dual function in plants. Its function depends on its concentration within the plant tissues. Firstly, at low concentrations it acts as a signalling molecule (Cheeseman, 2007) involved in triggering tolerance to various biotic and abiotic stresses and at high concentrations induces cell death (Grant and Loake, 2000; Quan et al., 2008). The results obtained in this study show an increased concentration of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in the roots of each cultivar. Thus, the highest increment was observed in the plants treated with  $10^7$  spores/ml, while the lowest increment is observed in plants treated with 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml in both cultivars. When comparing the cultivars, SST 015 had the highest H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> concentration when treated with  $10^5$  spores/ml compared to SST 088. While SST 088 showed the highest increase in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> when treated with 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml of the pathogen, compared to SST 015. The shoots however had an interesting trend, although both treatments had higher H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> concentrations compared to the control. The highest increment of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was observed in plants treated with 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml for both cultivars. Furthermore, SST 015 showed the highest H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> concentration when treated with  $10^7$  spores/ml compared to SST 088. While SST 088 showed the highest concentration when treated with 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml of the pathogen, compared to SST 015. Various studies of wheat interacting with different fungal pathogens also observed an increase in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>

concentration after inoculation. (Waśkiewicz *et al.*, 2014; Chen *et al.*, 2015). The results obtained in these studies are consistent with those obtained in the current study.

### 5.3.1.3. F. proliferatum infection enhanced the extent of lipid peroxidation in wheat plants

Malondialdehyde (MDA) is a secondary product resulting from the oxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids and it is an indicator of lipid peroxidation (Smirnoff, 1993). Lipid peroxidation is considered to be the most damaging process known to occur in every living organism (Gill and Tuteja, 2010). Thus, increased levels of lipid peroxidation are indicated by increased levels of MDA, as a result of ROS accumulation which induces cell death in plants. The results obtained in this study shows an increase in MDA levels of the infected plants compared to their respective controls, in both roots and shoots. These results are consistent with the results obtained in a study of wheat stripe rust, where MDA levels were increased due to fungal infection (Chan *et al.*, 2015). Furthermore, Kouadioa *et al.*, (2006), in a study of *Fusarium* wilt, recorded an increase in MDA levels post infection. The increase in the MDA levels post infection could be as a result of the generation and accumulation of ROS within the plant (Naguib, 2018).

5.3.2. F. proliferatum differentially alters the antioxidant enzyme activity in wheat plants

## 5.3.2.1. The effect of F. proliferatum on superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity in

The first line of plant defence against ROS in the list of enzymes whose function is to protect the plant against oxidative stress is superoxide dismutase (SOD). In the current study, the effect of *F. proliferatum* infection on the enzymatic activity of various SOD isoforms in wheat was investigated. SOD is one of the most abundant enzymatic antioxidants and it contributes majorly to the cellular redox state of the plant by protecting plants against oxidative damage (Smirnoff, 2000). The results obtained here showed that in SST 015 there was a decrease of

SOD activity in the plants inoculated with  $10^5$  spores/ml of pathogen compared to the control and there were no significant changes between the plants treated with  $10^7$  spores/ml and the control (Figure 4.8). However, in SST 088 there was an increase in SOD activity in plants treated with  $10^5$  spores/ml compared to the control and a slight decrease in the plants treated with  $10^7$  spores/ml compared to the control. In a similar study by Chen *et al.*, (2015), SOD activity was decreased after infection. This is consistent with the results obtained for SST 015. On the other hand Xingfu (1995) and Sorahinobar *et al.*, (2015) recorded an increase in SOD activity after inoculating various cucumber and wheat with downy mildew and F. *graminearum*, respectively. Furthermore, Alguacila *et al.*, (2003) also observed an increase in SOD activity post infection of mycorrhizal shrub species with arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi. These results are consistant with the results observed in  $10^5$  spores/ml treated plants in SST 088. The different concentrations of the pathogen seem to activate different mechanisms and pathways within the plant. Hence, the different responses of the plants to the pathogen. Therefore, the activated defence mechanisms and pathways are dependent on the concentration of the pathogen affecting or infecting the plant.

## UNIVERSITY of the

## 5.3.2.2 F. proliferatum differentially alters APX and POD activity in wheat plants

According to the Halliwell–Asada pathway, ascorbate peroxidase is a crucial enzyme, which converts  $H_2O_2$  to water and oxygen. The enzyme uses ascorbate (AsA) as an electron donor in this reduction of  $H_2O_2$  (Caverzan *et al.*, 2012; Pandey *et al.*, 2015). Ascobate is an antioxidant metabolite used by certain enzymes to scavenge ROS and it thus plays an indirect or direct role in  $H_2O_2$  scavenging (Noctor and Foyer, 1998). Caverzan *et al.*, (2012) further explains that APX activity, along with other enzymatic antioxidants, increases in response to various environmental stress. This explanation is consistent with what was observed in the current study for SST 088 in response to  $10^5$  spores/ml of the pathogen. Moreover, the decrease in APX activity in SST 015 in agreement with results of Chen *et al.*, (2015) that also indicated a decrease in APX activity infected wheat plants.

PODs are classified into three distantly related structural classes, found within the superfamily of fungal, bacterial and plant PODs (Welinder, 1992).. Class I is composed of mitochondrial yeast cytochrome c PODs, Class II are grouped according to all secretory fungal (manganese) PODs and Class III are of a glycoprotein nature, and are located in vacuoles and cell walls (Passardi *et al.*, 2005). The key role of PODs is to oxidize phenolic substrates at the expense of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. Furthermore, PODs also play a role in auxin metabolism, lignin and suberin formation, cross-linking of cell wall components, phytoalexin synthesis, and the metabolism of ROS (Almagro *et al.*, 2009).

POD activity increased in SST 015 with the highest increase observed in the treatment ( $10^5$  spores/ml). While for SST 088, a decrease in POD activity was observed, with the highest decrease observed in the  $10^5$  spores/ml treatment. Therefore, the results indicate that SST 015 shows an increase in POD activity while SST 088 shows a decrease in POD activity. Chen *et al.*, (2015) observed a similar trend of increasing POD activity after infecting wheat cultivars that were resistant to *Puccinia striiformis*. The increase in POD activity could also be as a result of overproduction of APX, which strengthen the ROS scavenging system and leads to oxidative stress tolerance (Sarowar *et al.*, 2005).

## **5.4 In summary**

*F. proliferatum* differentially alter ROS accumulation in two wheat cultivars as seen for changes in superoxide, hydrogen peroxide and the extent of lipid peroxidation. Interestingly, the changes for ROS–induced oxidative damage caused by *F. proliferatum* is concentration dependent. While superoxide accumulation in the roots was highest in SST 088 in both

treatments, the opposite was observed in the shoots.  $H_2O_2$  accumulation in the roots showed contrasting responses between the treatments. For the 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml treatment,  $H_2O_2$  was highest in SST 015, while for 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml-treated plants,  $H_2O_2$  accumulation was observed in SST 088. On the other hand the shoots showed the exact opposite. Moreover, there were no significant differences in the roots MDA content between the cultivars treated with 10<sup>5</sup> spores/ml. Whereas 10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml treatment had the highest accumulation in SST 015. However, in the shoots MDA accumulation was highest in SST 088 for both treatments.

Antioxidant capacity as seen for SOD, APX and POD activities as also differentially regulated by *F. proliferatum*. *F. proliferatum* reduced SOD activity in SST 015 but increased it in SST 088. A similar trend was observed for APX activity. However, *F. proliferatum* increased POD activity of SST 015 and the opposite was observed for SST 088.

# UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

## **CHAPTER SIX**

## **Conclusion and future prospective**

The aim of this study was to investigate the effect of *Fusarium proliferatum* on the physiological and biochemical responses of two wheat cultivars. We hypothesised that the higher concentration of the pathogen will result in enhanced oxidative damage to these plants. Thus, the highest pathogen concentration will be more detrimental to the plant growth and development than to the lower pathogen concentration. Interestingly, the hypothesis was proved wrong and instead we observed that the responses of the wheat cultivars was concentration dependent. To elaborate more on this, it seemed that the different concentrations of the pathogen stimulated and activated different pathways within the plant. This suggests that, the activated pathways within the plant do not just activate because of the presence of the pathogen but they also activate because of how much of the pathogen is present within the plant.

Physiological data, in particular: the overall seed germination, plant survival under infection, shoot and root lengths and the alteration of chlorophyll pigments, indicate that SST 088 displayed more traits of tolerance compared to SST 015. Furthermore, mineral nutrient accumulation indicated that SST 015 was more resistant to the pathogen compared to SST 088. However, Nutrient accumulation in a plant depends on many factors, such as element interaction within the soil, the regulation elements by plant hormones and the soil-borne pathogen, among others, which were outside the scope of this study. Therefore, the mineral nutrient data does not prove conclusively that SST 015 has more tolerance qualities compared to SST 088. Moreover, despite the contrasting nature of the results obtained in the biochemical responses of wheat to *F. proliferatum*, this study suggests that SST 088 is more tolerant compared to SST 015.

Therefore, this recent advancement will enable us to develop disease management strategies, which incorporate these findings. Furthermore, this study forms the basis for future and more detailed studies investigating the plant-pathogen interactions. Future studies could focus on the effect of the different concentrations of the pathogen at different growth stages of the plant, to investigate the extent to which the pathogen has affected the plant. Moreover, the effect of the different nutrients on the pathogen at different growth stages of the host plant could be studied as well, as opposed to the effect of the pathogen on the nutrients and incorporate the role of plant hormones in plant-pathogen interactions.



## UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

## REFERENCES

Abdalla, M.Y., Al. Rokibah, A., Moretti, A. & Mule, G. (2000). Pathogenicity of toxigenic *Fusarium proliferatum* from date palm in Saudi Arabia. *Plant Dis*, 84, 321-324.

Agrios, N.G. (2005). Plant Pathology, 5th ed., Elsevier-Academic Press, p. 635.

Al Hatmi, A.M.S. (2016). Phylogeny, diagnostics and antifungal susceptibility of clinically relevant *Fusarium* species.

Alguacila, M. M., Herna´ ndezb, J. A., Caravacaa, F. Portillob, B. & Rolda´, A. (2003). Antioxidant enzyme activities in shoots from three mycorrhizal shrub species afforested in a degraded semi-arid soil. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 118, 562–570.

Almagro, L., Go ´mez Ros, L. V., Belchi-Navarro, S., Bru, R. Ros Barcelo, A. & Pedren, M.
A. (2009). Class III peroxidases in plant defence reactions. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 60(2), 377–390.

Amato, B., Pfohl, K., Tonti, S., Nipoti, P., Dastjerdi, R., Pisi, A., Karlovsky, P. & Prodi, A. (2015). *Fusarium proliferatum* and fumonisin B1 co-occur with *Fusarium* species causing *Fusarium* Head Blight in durum wheat in Italy. *Journal of Applied Botany and Food Quality*, 88, 228 – 233.

Amtmann, A., Troufflard, S. & Armengaud, P. (2008). The effect of potassium nutrition on pest and disease resistance in plants. *Physiol. Plant*, 133, 682–691.

Andersen, E.J., Ali, S., Byamukama, E., Yen, Y. & Nepal, M.P. (2018). Disease Resistance Mechanisms in Plants. *Genes*, 9(7), 339.

Apel, K. and Hirt, H. (2004). Reactive oxygen species: metabolism, oxidative stress, and signal transduction. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol*, 55, 373–399.

Arango, Y. & Heise, K.P. (1998). Localization of  $\alpha$ -tocopherol synthesis in chromoplast envelope membranes of Capsicum annuum L. fruits. *J Exp Bot*, 324, 1259–1262.

Arora, A., Sairam, R.K. and Srivastava, G.C. (2002). Oxidativestress and antioxidative system in plants. *Current Science*, 82(10), 1227–1238.

Asada, K. (2006), Production and scavenging of reactive oxygen species in chloroplasts and their functions. *Plant Physiology*, 141, 391–396.

## UNIVERSITY of the

Avasthi, S., Gautam, A.K. & Bhadauria, R. (2018). First report of leaf spot disease of Aloe vera caused by *Fusarium proliferatum* in India. *Journal of Plant Protection Research*, 58(2), 109–114.

Aznar, A., Chen, N.W., Thomine, S. & Dellagi, A. (2015). Immunity to plant pathogens and iron homeostasis. *Plant Sci*, 240, 90-7.

Bacon, C.W., Porter, J.K., Norred, W.P. & Leslie, J.F. (1996). Production of fusaric acid by *Fusarium* species. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 62(11), 4039-4043.

Bailly, C., El-Marouf-Bouteau, H. & Corbineau, F. (2008). From intracellular signaling networks to cell death: the dual role of reactive oxygen species in seed physiology. *Comptes Rendus Biologies*, 331, 806–814.

Bent, A.F., Innes, R.W., Ecker, J.R. & Staskawicz, B.J. (1992). Disease development in ethylene-insensitive Arabidopsis thaliana infected with virulent and avirulent Pseudomona and Xanthomonas pathogens. *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact*, *5*, 372–378.

Blokhina, O., Virolainen, E. & Fagerstedt, K.V. (2003). Antioxidants, oxidative damage, and oxygen deprivation stress: a review. *Annals of Botany*, 91, 179–194.

Bolle-Jones, E.W. & Hilton, R.N. (1956). Zinc-Deficiency of *Hevea brasiliensis* as a predisposing factor to *Oidium* infection, *Nature*, 177, 619–620.

Bottalico, A. (1998). *Fusarium* diseases of cereals: species complex and related mycotoxin profiles, in Europe. *Journal of Plant Pathology*, 80(2), 85-103.

Bowler, C., Van Montagu, M. & Inz'e, D. (1992). Superoxide dismutase and stress tolerance. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology*, 43(1), 83–116.

Bradford, M.M. (1976). A rapid and sensitive method for the quantification of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 72, 248-254.

Broadley, M., Brown, P., Cakmak, I., Rengel, Z. & Zhao, F. (2012). Function of nutrients: micronutrients. In P. Marschner (Ed.), *Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants*, 3rd Edn, pp 191–248. London, Academic Press.

Bueno, P., Varela, J., Gimenez-Gallego, G. & Del Rio, L. A. (1995). Peroxisomal copper, zinc superoxide dismutase: characterization of the isoenzyme from watermelon cotyledons. *Plant Physiology*, 108(3), 1151–1160.

Burmeister,H,R, & Plattner, R.D. (1987). Enniatin Production by *Fusarium* tricinctum and its Effect on Germinating Wheat Seed. *Physiology and Biochemistry*, 77, 1483-1487.

Cakmak, I.M. (2000). Possible roles of zinc in protecting plant cells from damage by reactive oxygen species, *New Phytol.* 146, 185–205.

Caverzan, A., Passaia, G., Rosa, S.B., Ribeiro, C.W., Lazzarotto, F. & Margis-Pinheiro, M. (2012). Plant responses to stresses: role of ascorbate peroxidase in the antioxidant protection. *Genetics and Molecular Biology*, 35, 1011-1019.

Cazzonelli, C.I., and Pogson, B.J. (2010). Source to sink: regulation of carotenoid biosynthesis in plants. *Trends Plant Sci.* 15:266–274.

Cendoya, E., Chiotta, M.L. Zachetti, V., Chulze, S.N. & Ramirez, M.L. (2018). Fumonisins and fumonisin-producing *Fusarium* occurrence in wheat and wheat by products: a review. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 80, 158-166.

Chandrika, M.L. & Shahidi, F. (2006). Importance of insoluble-bound phenolics to antioxidant properties of wheat. *J. Agric. Food Chem*, 54, 1256-1264.

Chang, K.F., Hwang, S.F., Conner, R.L., Ahmed, H.U., Zhou, Q., Turnbull, G.D.,

Cheeseman, J.M. (2007). Hydrogen peroxide and plant stress: a challenging relationship. *Plant Stress*, 1(1), 4-15.

Chen, C., Westcott, M., Neill, K., Wichman, D, & Knox M. (2004). Row configuration and nitrogen application for barley-pea intercropping in Montana. *Agronomy J*, 96, 1730-1738.

Chen, Y-E., Cui, J-M., Su, Y-Q., Yuan, S., Yuan, M. & Zhang, H-Y. (2015). Influence of stripe rust infection on the photosynthetic characteristics and antioxidant system of susceptible and resistant wheat cultivars at the adult plant stage. *Front. Plant Sci*, 6, 779.

Choia, J-H., Leea, S., Naha, J-Y., Kimb, H-K., Paeka, J-S., Leea, S. ... Lee, T. (2018). Species composition of and fumonisin production by the *Fusarium* fujikuroi species complex isolated from Korean cereals. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 267, 62–69.

WESTERN CAPE

Conner, R.L., Hwang, S.F. & Stevens, R.R. (1996). *Fusarium proliferatum*: A new causal agent of black point in wheat. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology*, 18, 419–423.

DaCosta, M. & Huang, B. (2006). Changes in carbon partitioning and accumulation patterns during drought and recovery for colonial bent grass, creeping bent grass, and velvet bent grass. *Journal of American Society of Horticultural Science*, 131, 484-490.

Datnoff, W.H. (2007). *Mineral Nutrition and Plant Disease*. American Phytopathological Society APS Press.

Debnath, S., Narayan, R., Kumar, A., Attri, B.L. & Kishor, A. (2015). Deficiency of magnesium in maize (Zea mays L.) induced by high potassium level in a micaceous soil of Kumaon region of Uttarakhand, India. *Journal of Applied and Natural Science*, 7 (2), 903 – 906.

Debona, D., Rios, J. A., Nascimento, K. J., T., Silva, L. C. & Rodrigues, F. A. (2016). Influence of magnesium on physiological responses of wheat infected by *Pyricularia oryzae*. *Plant Pathology*, 65, 114–123.

Debona, D., Rodrigues, F. Á., Rios, J. A., Rios, J.A. & Nascimento, K.J. (2012). Biochemical changes in the leaves of wheat plants infected by Pyricularia oryzae. *Phytopathology*, 102, 1121-1129.

Demidchik, V., Straltsova, D., Medvedev, S. S., Pozhvanov, G.A., Sokolik, A. & Yurin, V. (2014). Stress-induced electrolyte leakage: the role of K+-permeable channels and involvement in programmed cell death and metabolic adjustment. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 65, 1259-1270.

Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries. (2018). *Production guideline for wheat*. Retrieved from https://www.daff.gov.za/Daffweb3/Portals/0/Brochures%20and%20Production%20guideline s/Wheat%20-%20Production%20Guideline.pdf

Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries. (2018). *Trends in the Agricultural Sector*. Retrieved from

https://www.daff.gov.za/Daffweb3/Portals/0/Statistics%20and%20Economic%20Analysis/St atistical%20Information/Trends%20in%20the%20Agricultural%20Sector%202018.pdf

Desjardins, A. E., Busman, M., Proctor, R. H. & Stessman, R. (2007). Wheat kernel black point and fumonisin contamination by *Fusarium proliferatum*. *Food Additives and Contaminants*, 24(10), 1131–1137.

Desjardins, A.E., Busman, M., Proctor, R.H., Stessman, R., (2007). Wheat kernel black point and fumonisin contamination by *Fusarium proliferatum*. *Food Addit. Contam.* 24, 1131-1137.

Desjardins, A.E., Manandhar, G., Plattner, R.D., Maragos, C.M., Shrestha, K. & McCormick, S.P. (2000). Occurrence of *Fusarium* species and mycotoxins in Nepalese maize and wheat and the effect of traditional processing methods on mycotoxin levels. *J. Agric. Food Chem*, 48, 1377–1383.

Desjardins, A.E., Plattner, R.D. & Nelson, P.E. (1997). Production of fumonisin B1 and moniliformin by Gibberella fujikuroi from rice from various geographic areas. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol*, 63, 1838–1842.

Dietz, K.J. (2003). Plant peroxiredoxins. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol, 54, 93-107.

Divon, H.H. & Fluhr, R. (2006). Nutrition acquisition strategies during fungal infection of plants. *FEMS Microbiol Lett*, 266(1), 65-74.

Domonkos, I., Kis, M., Gombos, Z. and Ughy, B. (2013). Carotenoids, versatile components of oxygenic photosynthesis. *Prog. Lipid Res*, 52, 539–561.

Dordas, C. (2008). Role of nutrients in controlling plant diseases in sustainable agriculture: a review. *Agron. Sustain. Dev*, 28 (2008), 33–46.

Duba, A., Goriewa-Duba, K. & Wachowsk, U. (2018). A Review of the Interactions between Wheat and Wheat Pathogens: *Zymoseptoria tritici*, *Fusarium* spp. and *Parastagonospora nodorum. Int. J. Mol. Sci*, 19, 1138.

Dugan, F., Hellier, B. & Lupien, S. (2003). First report of *Fusarium proliferatum* causing rot of garlic bulbs in North America. *Plant Pathol*, 52, 426.

PE

Durrant, W.E. & Dong, X. (2004). Systemic acquired resistance. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, 42, 185–209.

Elmer, W.H. (2015). Management of *Fusarium* crown and root rot of asparagus. *Journal of Crop Protection*, 73, 2-6.

Elmer, W.H., (1990). *Fusarium proliferatum* as a causal agent in *Fusarium* crown and root rot of asparagus. *Plant Dis*, 74, 938.

Evangelisti, E., Rey, T. & Schornack, S. (2014). Cross-interference of plant development and plant-microbe interactions. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol*, 20, 118-126.

Evans, I., Solberg, E. & Huber, D. M. (2007). Copper and Plant Disease. In L.E. Datnoff, W.H. Elmer, & D.M. Huber (Eds.), *Mineral Nutrition and Plant Disease*, pp.177-188. The American Phytophathological Society, USA.

Fandohan, P., Hell, K., Marasas, W. F. O., and Wingfield, M. J. (2003). Infection of maize by *Fusarium* species and contamination with fumonisin in Africa. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, Vol. 2 (12), 570-579.

## UNIVERSITY of the

FAO and ECA. (2018). Regional Overview of Food Security and Nutrition. Addressing the threat from climate variability and extremes for food security and nutrition. Accra. 116 pp.

FAO, IFAD, UNICEF, WFP and WHO. 2019. The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2019. Safeguarding against economic slowdowns and downturns. Rome, FAO. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

FAO. (2018a). GIEWS (Global Information Early Warning System). Food Price Monitoring and Analysis Tool. Rome. Retrieved from

http://www.fao.org/giews/foodprices/tool/public/#/home.

FAO. (2018b). Northeastern Nigeria – Adamawa, Borno and Yobe. Situation Report. June 2018. Rome.

Ferrigo, D., Raiola, A., Bogialli, S., Bortolini, C., Tapparo, A, & Causin, R. (2015). In vitro production of fumonisins by *Fusarium* verticillioides under oxidative stress induced by H2O2. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 63, 4879-4885.

Foyer CH, Harbinson JC. (1994). Oxygen metabolism and the regulation of photosynthetic electron transport. In C.H. Foyer, & P.M. Mullineaux (Eds.), *Causes of Photooxidative Stress and Amelioration of Defense Systems in Plant*, pp. 1–42. Boca Raton, Fla, CRC Press.

Foyer, C.H., Lopez-Delgado, H., Dat, J.F. & Scott, I.M. (1997). Hydrogen peroxideand glutathione-associated mechanisms of acclimatory stress tolerance and signalling. *Physiol Plant*, 100, 241–254.

Fridovich, I. (1989). Superoxide dismutases: an adaptation to a paramagnetic gas. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 264(14), 7761–7764.

FSIN (Food Security Information Network). 2018. Global Report on Food Crises. Rome, World Food Programme. Fujita, M., Fujita, Y., Noutoshi, Y., Takahashi, F., Narusaka, Y., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. & Shinozaki, K. (2006). Crosstalk between abiotic and biotic stress responses: a current view from the points of convergence in the stress signaling networks. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 9, 436–442.

Galvez, L., Urbaniak, M., Waśkiewicz, A., Stępień, Ł. & Palmero, D. (2017). *Fusarium proliferatum* - Causal agent of garlic bulb rot in Spain: genetic variability and mycotoxin production. *Food Microbiology*, 67 (2017), 41-48.

Gao, M., Luan, Y., Yu, H. & Bao, Y. (2016). First report of tomato leaf spot caused by *Fusarium proliferatum* in China. Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology, 38(3), 400-404.

Geiser, D.M., del Mar Jim´enez-Gasco, M., Kang, S., Makalowska, I., Veeraraghavan, N., Ward, T.J., Zhang, N., Kuldau, G.A. & O'Donne, K. (2004). *FUSARIUM*-IDv.1.0: a DNA sequence data base for identifying *Fusarium*. *Eur. J. Plant Pathol*, 110, 473–79.

## UNIVERSITY of the

Genc, Y., McDonald, G.K. & Graham, R.D. (2006). Contribution of different mechanisms to zinc efficiency in bread wheat during early vegetative stage. *Plant Soil*, 281, 353-367.

Geren, H., Avcioglu, R., Soya, H. & Kir, B. (2008). Intercropping of corn with cowpea and bean: biomass yield and silage quality. *Afr J Biotechnol*, 7, 4100-4104.

Ghanbari-Bonjar, A. & Lee, H.C. (2002). Intercropped field beans (Vicia faba) and wheat (Triticum aestivum) for whole crop forage: effect of nitrogen on forage yield and quality. *J Agr Sci*, 138, 311-315.

Gill, S.S. & Tuteja, N. (2010). Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. *Plant Physiol. Biochem*, 48(12), 909-30.

Gitelson, A.A., Keydan, G.P. & Merzlyak, M.N. (2006). Three-band model for non-invasive estimation of chlorophyll, carotenoids, and anthocyanin content in higher plant leaves. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 33, 1-5.

Glazebrook, J. (2005). Contrasting mechanisms of defense against biotrophic and necrotrophic pathogens. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* 43, 205–207.

Górna, K., Pawłowicz, I., Waśkiewicz, A. & Stępień, Ł. (2016). *Fusarium proliferatum* strains change fumonisin biosynthesis and accumulation when exposed to host plant extracts. Fungal Biology, 120 (6–7), 884-893.

Graham, D.R. & Webb, M.J. (1991). Micronutrients and disease resistance and tolerance in plants. In J.J. Mortvedt, F.R. Cox, L.M. Shuman, & R.M. Welch (Eds.), *Micronutrients in Agriculture*, 2nd ed., pp. 329–370. Soil Science Society of America, Inc. Madison, Wisconsin, USA.

Graham, D.R. (1983), Effects of nutrients stress on susceptibility of plants to disease with particular reference to the trace elements. *Adv. Bot. Res*, 10, 221–276.

Grant, J.J. & Loake, G.J. (2000). Role of reactive oxygen intermediates and cognate redox signaling in disease resistance. *Plant Physiol*, 124, 21-29.

Grewal, H.S., Graham, R.D. & Rengel, Z. (1996). Genotypic variation in zinc efficiency and resistance to crown rot disease (*Fusarium* graminearum Schw. Group 1) in wheat. *Plant Soil*, 186, 219–226.

Gupta, A. S., Heinen, J. L., Holaday, A. S., Burke, J. J. & Allen, R. D. (1993). Increased resistance to oxidative stress in transgenic plants that overexpress chloroplastic Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 90(4), 1629–1633.

## UNIVERSITY of the

Gupta, N., Debnath, S., Sharma, S., Sharma, P. & Purohit, J. (2017). Role of Nutrients in Controlling the Plant Diseases in Sustainable Agriculture. In V. S. Meena et al., (Eds.) *Agriculturally Important Microbes for Sustainable Agriculture*, Springer Singapore.

Hammerschmidt, R. & Nicholson, R.L. (2000). A survey of plant defense responses to pathogens. In A.A. Agrawal, S.Tuzun, & E. Bent (Eds.), *Induced plant defenses against pathogens and herbivores*, pp. 390. APS Press, Minneapolis, USA.

Han, C., Liu, Q. & Yang, Y. (2009). Short-term effects of experimental warming and enhanced ultraviolet-B radiation on photosynthesis and antioxidant defense of *Picea asperata* seedlings. *Plant Growth Regulation*, 58(2), 153–162.

Hao, Z., Christie, P., Qin, L., Wang, C. & Li, X. (2005). Control of *Fusarium* Wilt of Cucumber
Seedlings by Inoculation with an Arbuscular Mycorrhical Fungus. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*,
28, 1961–1974.

Hare, P.D. & Cress, W.A. (1997). Metabolic implications of stress-induced proline accumulation in plants. *Plant Growth Regulation*, 21, 79-102.

Hare, P.D., Cress, W.A. & Van Staden, J. (1998). Dissecting the roles of osmolyte accumulation during stress. *Plant Cell Envir*, 21, 535-553.

Hashimoto, H., Uragami, C. and Cogdell, R.J. (2016). Carotenoids and photosynthesis. *Subcell. Biochem*, 79, 111–139.

Hauggaard-Nielsen, H., Ambus, P. & Jensen, E.S. (2001). Inter-specific competition, N use and interference with weeds in pea–barley intercropping. *Field Crops Res*earch, 70, 101–109.

Hauggaard-Nielsen, H., Andersen, M.K., Jornsgaard, B. & Jensen, E.S. (2006). Density and relative frequency effects on competitive interactions and resource use in pea–barley intercrops. *Field Crops Research*, 95, 256–267.

Havaux, M. (2014). Carotenoid oxidation products as stress signals in plants. *Plant J*, 79, 597–606.

Heckman, J.R., Clarke, B.B. & Murphy. J.A. (2003). Optimizing manganese fertilization for the suppression of take-all patch disease on creeping bent grass. *Crop Sci.* 43, 1395–1398.

Herrmann, M., Zocher, R. & Haese, A. (1996). Effect of disruption of the enniatin synthetase gene on the virulence of *Fusarium avenaceum*. *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact*, 9, 226–32.

Heyno, E., Mary, V., Schopfer, P. & Krieger-Liszkay, A. (2011). Oxygen activation at the plasma membrane: relation between superoxide and hydroxyl radical production by isolated membranes. *Planta*, 234 (1), 35–45.

Hoffman, T., Schmidt, J.C., Zheng, X. & Bent, A.F. (1999). Isolation of ethylene-insensitive soybean mutants that are altered in pathogen susceptibility and gene-for-gene disease resistance. *Plant Physiol.* 119, 935–949.

Huber, D., Römheld, V. & Weinmann, M. (2012). Relationship between Nutrition, Plant Diseases and Pests. In H. Marschner, (Ed.) *Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants*, Academic Press.

Huber, D.M. & Graham, R.D. (1999). The role of nutrition in crop resistance and tolerance to disease. In Z. Rengel (Ed.), *Mineral nutrition of crops fundamental mechanisms and implications*, pp. 205–226. Food Product Press, New York.
Huber, D.M. & Jones, J.B. (2012). The role of magnesium in plant disease. *Plant and Soil*, 368(1–2), 73–85.

Huber, D.M. (1980). The role of mineral nutrition in defense. In J.G. Horsfall & E.B. Cowling,
(Eds.), *Plant Disease, An Advanced Treatise, Volume 5, How Plants Defend Themselves*, pp. 381–406. Academic Press, New York.

Huber, M.D. (1996). Introduction. In W.A. Engelhard (Ed.), *Management of Diseases with Macro- and Microelements*, p. 217. APS Press, Minneapolis, USA.

Ibrahim, A.I., Saad, N.A., Ismail, A.Z. & Nasser, A.R. (2016). Identification and Diagnosis of Some Pathological Phenomena on the Date Palm caused by *Fusarium* Species in Iraq. *Int. J. Curr. Microbiol. App. Sci*, 5(7), 692-700.

Imathiu, S. M., Edwards, S. G., Ray, R. V. & Back, B. (2014). Review article: artificial inoculum and inoculation techniques commonly used in the investigation of *Fusarium* head blight in cereal. *Acta Phytopathologica et Entomologica Hungarica*, 49 (2), 129–13.

Jackson, C., Dench, J., Moore, A. L., Halliwell, B., Foyer, C. H. & Hall, D. O. (1978). Subcellular localisation and identification of superoxide dismutase in the leaves of higher plants. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 91(2), 339–344.

Javanmard, A., Nasab, A.D.M., Javanshir, A., Moghaddam, M. & Janmohammadi, H. (2009). Forage yield and quality in intercropping of maize with different legumes as double-cropped. *J Food Agr. Environ*, 7, 163-166. Jonak C, Okresz L, Bogre L, Hirt H: Complexity, cross talk and integration of plant MAP kinase signaling. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol, 5, 415-424.

Junker, R.R. & Tholl, D. (2013). Volatile organic compound mediated interactions at the plantmicrobe interface. *J. Chem. Ecol.* 39, 810-825.

Khoshgoftarmanesh, A., Kabiri, S., Shariatmadari, H.B., Sharifnabi, B. & Schulin, R. (2010). Zinc nutrition effect on the tolerance of wheat genotypes to *Fusarium* root rot disease in a solution culture experiment. *Soil Sci Plant Nutr*, 56, 234–243.

Kieu, N.P., Aznar, A., Segond, D., Rigault, M., Simond-Côte, E., Kunz, C., Soulie, M.C., Expert, D. & Dellagi, A. (2012). Iron deficiency affects plant defence responses and confers resistance to Dickeya dadantii and Botrytis cinerea. *Mol Plant Pathol*, 13, 816–827.

Kira, O., Linker, R. & Gitelson, A. (2015). Non-destructive estimation of foliar chlorophyll and carotenoid contents: focus on informative spectral bands. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, 38, 251-260.

Kouadioa, J.H., Danob, S.D., Moukhac, S., Mobioa, T.A. & Creppy, E.E. (2006). Effects of combinations of *Fusarium* mycotoxins on the inhibition of macromolecular synthesis, malondialdehyde levels, DNA methylation and fragmentation, and viability in Caco-2 cells. *Toxicon*, 49, 306–317.

Krauss, A. (1999). Balanced Nutrition and Biotic Stress, *IFA Agricultural Conference on Managing Plant Nutrition*, 29 June-2 July 1999, Barcelona, Spain.

Kumar, M., Yadav, V., Tuteja, N. & Johri, A.K. (2009). Antioxidant enzyme activities in maize plants colonized with Piriformospora indica. *Microbiology*, 155, 780-790.

Laemmli, U.K. (1970). Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature*, 227, 680-685.

Lamb, C. & Dixon, R.A. (1997). The oxidative burst in plant disease resistance. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol*, 48, 251-275.

Lesk, C., Rowhani, P. & Ramankutty, N. (2016). Influence of extreme weather disasters on global crop production. *Nature*, 529.

Leslie, J.F., Summerell, B.A., Bullock, S. & Doe, F.J. (2005a). Description of Gibberella sacchari and neotypification of its anamorph *Fusarium* sacchari. *Mycologia*, 97(3), 718-724.

Leslie, J.F., Zeller, K.A., Lamprecht, S.C., Rheeder, J.P. & Marasas, W.F.O. (2005b). Toxicity, pathogenicity, and genetic differentiation of five species of *Fusarium* from sorghum and millet. *Phytopathology*, 95(3), 275-283.

Lewis, D.H. (1973). Concepts in fungal nutrition and the origin of biotrophy. *Biol Rev*, 48, 261–278.

Li, G. & Yen, Y. (2008). Jasmonate and Ethylene Signaling Pathway May Mediate *Fusarium* Head Blight Resistance in Wheat. *Crop Sci*, 48, 1888–1896. Lichtenthaler, H.K. & Wellburn, A.R. (1983). Determinations of total carotenoids and chlorophylls a and b of leaf extracts in different solvents. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, 11, 591-592.

Lichtenthaler, H.K., Prenzel, U., Douce, R. and Joyard, J. (1981). Localization of prenylquinones in the envelope of spinach chloroplasts. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 641, 99–105.

Lin, T., Zhu, X., Zhang, F. & Wan, X. (2011). The detoxification effect of cadmium stress in *Populusy unnanensis. Res. J. Bot*, 4, 13–19.

Lithourgidis, A.S. & Dordas, C.A. (2010). Forage yield, growth rate, and nitrogen uptake of faba bean intercrops with wheat, barley, and rye in three seeding ratios. *Crop Sci*, 50, 2148-2158.

Lithourgidis, A.S., Dhima, K.V., Vasilakoglou, I.B., Dordas, C.A. & Yiakoulaki, M.D. (2007). Sustainable production of barley and wheat by intercropping common vetch. *Agron Sustain Dev*, 27, 95-99.

Lithourgidis, A.S., Dordas, C.A., Damalas, C.A. & Vlachostergios, D.N. (2011). Annual intercrops: an alternative pathway for sustainable agriculture. *Australian Journal of Crop Science*, 5(4), 396-410.

Madhusudhan, R., Ishikawa, T., Sawa, Y. Shigeoka, S. & Shibata, H. (2003). Characterization of an ascorbate peroxidase in plastids of tobacco BY-2 cells. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 117(4), 550–557.

Magbanua, Z. V., De Moraes, C. M., Brooks, T. D., Williams, W.P. & Luthe, D.S. (2007). Is catalase activity one of the factors associated with maize resistance to Aspergillus flavus?. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 20, 697-706.

Maheshwari, R. & Dubey, R. S. (2009). Nickel-induced oxidative stress and the role of antioxidant defence in rice seedlings. *Plant Growth Regulation*, 59(1), 37–49.

Marasas WFO, Nelson PE and Toussoun TA (1984) *Toxigenic Fusarium Species: Identity and Mycotoxicology*. University Park, Penn State University Press. PA. 328 pp.

Marasas WFO, Nelson PE, Toussoun TA: *Toxigenic Fusarium Species*. University Park: The Pennsylvania State University Press. 1984.

Marschner, H. (1995), *Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants*, 2nd ed., Academic Press, London, p. 889

Massacci, A., Battistelli, A. & Loreto, F. (1996). Effect of drought stress on photosynthetic characteristics, growth and sugar accumulation of field-grown sweet sorghum. *Australian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 23, 331-340.

Matny, O. N. (2015). *Fusarium* head blight and crown rot on wheat & barley: losses and health risks. *Advances in Plants & Agriculture Research*, Vol 2(1), 38–43.

McCutchan, H. & Shackel, K.A. (1992). Stem water potential as a sensitive Indicator of water stress in prune tress (Prunus domestica L. cv. French). *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, 117, 607-611.

Meena, V.S., Maurya, B.R., Meena, S.K., Meena, R.K., Kumar, A., Verma, J.P. & Singh, N.P. (2017). Can Bacillus species enhance nutrient availability in agricultural soils?. In R.M. Pandey, P. Jha, C.K. Aeron (Eds.), *Bacilli and Agrobiotechnology*, pp 367–395. Springer International Publishing.

Mendgen, K. & Hahn, M. (2002). Plant infection and the establishment of fungal biotrophy. *Trends Plant Sci*, 7, 352–356.

Micronutrient Initiative. 2006. Controlling vitamin and mineral deficiencies in India: meeting the goal. New Delhi, India: Micronutrient Initiative.

Mishra, S., Jha, A. B. & Dubey, R. S. (2011). Arsenite treatment induces oxidative stress, upregulates antioxidant system, and causes phytochelatin synthesis in rice seedlings. *Protoplasma*, 248(3), 565–577.

Mittler, R. & Zilinskas, B.A. (1993). Detection of ascorbate peroxidase activity in native gels by inhibition of the ascorbate-dependent reduction of nitroblue tetrazolium. *Analytical Biochemistry* 212, 540-546.

Mohd Zainudin, N.A.I., HamzaH, F.A., Kusai, N.A., Zambri, N.S. & Salleh, S. (2017). Characterization and pathogenicity of *Fusarium proliferatum* and *Fusarium* verticillioides, causal agents of *Fusarium* ear rot of corn. *Turk J. Biol*, 41, 220-230.

Moretti, A., Logrieco, A., Bottalico, A., Ritieni, A., Fogliano, V. & Randazzo, G. (1996). Diversity in beauvericin and fusaproliferin production by different populations of Gibberella fujikuroi (*Fusarium* section Liseola). *Sydowia*, 48, 44-56.

Munne<sup>-</sup>-Bosch, S. and Alegre, L. (2002). Die and let live: leaf senescence contributes to plant survival under drought stress. *Funct. Plant Biol*, 31, 203–216.

Naguib, D.M. (2018). Control of *Fusarium* wilt in wheat seedlings by grain priming with defensin-like protein. *Egyptian Journal of Biological Pest Control*, 28, 68.

Nakagami, H., Pitzschke, A. & Hirt, H. (2005). Emerging MAP kinase pathways in plant stress signaling. *Trends Plant Sci*, 10, 339-346.

WESTERN

Nakano, Y. & Asada, K. (1987). Purification of ascorbate peroxidase in spinach chloroplasts: its inactivation in ascorbate depleted medium and reactivation by monodehydroascorbate radical. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 28(1), 131–140.

Nisar, N., Li, L., Lu, S., Khin, N.C. & Pogson, B.J. (2015). Carotenoid Metabolism in Plants. *Mol. Plant*, 8, 68–82. Niyogi, K.K. and Truong, T.B. (2013). Evolution of flexible nonphotochemical quenching mechanisms that regulate light harvesting in oxygenic photosynthesis. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol*, 16, 307–314.

Noctor, G. & Foyer, C.H. (1998). Ascorbate and glutathione: keeping an active oxygen under control. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, 49, 249-279.

Ntoukakis, V. & Gifford, M.L. (2019). Plant–microbe interactions: tipping the balance. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 70(18), 4583–4585.

Pandey, P., Singh, J., Achary, V. & Reddy, M.K. (2015). Redox homeostasis via gene families of ascorbate-glutathione pathway. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 3, 25-39.

Parry, D. W., Jenkinson, P. & McLeod, L. (1995). *Fusarium* ear blight (scab) in small grain cereals: a review. *Plant Pathology*, 44, 207–238.

Passardi, F. Penel, C. & Dunand, C. (2004) Performing the paradoxical: how plant peroxidases modify the cell wall. *Trends Plant Sci*, 9, 534–540.

NIVERSITY of the

Passardi, F., Cosio, C., Penel, C. & Dunand, C. (2005). Peroxidases have more functions than a Swiss army knife. *Plant Cell Reports*, 24, 255–26.

Patterson, W.R. & Poulos, T.L. (1995). Crystal structure of recombinant pea cytosolic ascorbate peroxidase. *Biochemistry*, 34(13), 4331–4341.

Pereira, P., Nesci, A., Castillo, C. & Etcheverry, M. (2011). Field studies on the relationship between *Fusarium* verticillioides and maize (Zea mays L.): effect of biocontrol agents on fungal infection and toxin content of grains at harvest. *International Journal of Agronomy*, Vol. 2011, 1-7.

Pérez-Bueno, M.L., Pineda, M. & Barón, M. (2019). Phenotyping Plant Responses to Biotic Stress by Chlorophyll Fluorescence Imaging. *Front. Plant Sci*, 10, 1135.

Perfect, E.S. & Green, J.R. (2001). Infection structures of biotrophic and hemibiotrophic fungal plant pathogens. *Mol. Plant Pathol*, 2, 101–108.

Persson, L. & Olsson, S. (2000). Abiotic characteristics of soils suppressive to Aphonomyces root rot. *Soil Biol Biochem*, 32, 1141–1150.

Pourcel, L., Routaboul, J-M, Cheynier, V. &, Lepiniec, L. (2006). Flavonoid oxidation in plants: from biochemical properties to physiological functions. *Trends in Plant Science*, 12(1), 1360-1385.

Quan, L. J., Zhang, B., Shi, W. W. & Li, H. Y. (2008). Hydrogen peroxide in plants: a versatile molecule of the reactive oxygen species network. *J. Integrat Plant Biol*, 50, 2-18.

Racchi, M. L., Bagnoli, F., Balla, I. & Danti, S. (2001). Differential activity of catalase and superoxide dismutase in seedlings and in vitro micropropagated oak (Quercus robur L.). *Plant Cell Reports*, vol. 20(2), 169–174.

Rajeswari, P. (2014). Management of *Fusarium* wilt caused by *Fusarium oxysporum* by Trichoderma Species and Pseudomonas fluorescens on Arachis hypogaea (Groundnut). *J. Biol. Control*, 28, 133–136.

Ray, M., Ray, A., Dash, S., Mishra, A., Achary, K.G., Nayak, S. & Sing, S. ().Fungal disease detection in plants: Traditional assays, novel diagnostic techniques and biosensors. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, 87, 708–723.

Rejeb, I.B., Pastor, V. & Mauch-Mani, B. (2014). Plant Responses to Simultaneous Biotic and Abiotic Stress: Molecular Mechanisms. *Plants*, 2014, 3, 458-47.

Ritieni, A., Moretti, A., Logrieco, A., Bottalico, A., Randazzo, G., Monti, S.M., et al. (1997). Occurrence of fusaproliferin, fumonisin B1, and beauvericin in maize from Italy. *J Agric Food Chem.* 45(10), 4011-4016.

Rojas, C.M., Senthil-Kumar, M., Tzin, V. & Mysore, K.S. (). Regulation of primary plant metabolism during plant-pathogen interactions and its contribution to plant defense. *Front. Plant Sci*, 5, 17.

Römheld, V. & Marschner, H. (1991). Function of micronutrients in plants. In J.J. Mortvedt,
F.R. Cox, M.L. Shuman, & R.M. Welch (Eds.), *Micronutrients in Agriculture*, pp. 297–328.
Soil Science Society of America, Inc. Madison, Wisconsin, USA.

Rong, Z., Yuan, Y., Ye, W., Wang, X. & Zheng, X. (2018). Rapid diagnosis of rice bakanae caused by *Fusarium* fujikuroi and *F. proliferatum* using loop-mediated isothermal amplification assays. Journal of Phytopathology, 166(4), 283-290.

Ruiz-Sola, M.A'.& Rodri'guez-Concepcio' n, M. (2012). Carotenoid biosynthesis in Arabidopsis: a colorful pathway. Arabidopsis Book, 10, e0158.

Sarowar, S., Kim, E.N., Kim, Y.J., Ok, S.H., Kim, K.D., Hwang, B.K. & Shin, J.S. (2005). Overexpression of a pepper ascorbate peroxidase-like 1 gene in tobacco plants enhances tolerance to oxidative stress and pathogens. *Plant Sci*, 169, 55–63.

Schmidt, O., Clements, R.O. & Donaldson, G. (2003). Why do cereal-legume intercrops support large earthworm populations? *App Soil Ecol*, 22, 181–190.

Schumann, A.W., Vashisth, T. & Spann, T.M. (2017). Mineral Nutrition Contributes to Plant Disease and Pest Resistance. HS1181, UF/IFAS Extension.

Sewelam, N. Kazan, K., Peer, M. & Schenk, P.M. (2016). Global plant stress signaling: reactive oxygen species at the cross-road. *Front Plant Sci*, 7, 187.

Sharma, P. & Dubey, R. S. (2004). Ascorbate peroxidase from rice seedlings: properties of enzyme isoforms, effects of stresses and protective roles of osmolytes. *Plant Science*, 167(3), 541–550.

Sharma, P. & Dubey, R. S. (2005). Drought induces oxidative stress and enhances the activities of antioxidant enzymes in growing rice seedlings. *Plant Growth Regulation*, 46(3), 209–221.

Sharma, P. & Dubey, R. S. (2007). Involvement of oxidative stress and role of antioxidative defense system in growing rice seedlings exposed to toxic concentrations of aluminum. *Plant Cell Reports*, 26(11), 2027–2038.

Sharma, P., Jha, A.B. Dubey, R.S. & Pessarakli, M. (2012). Reactive Oxygen Species, Oxidative Damage, and Antioxidative Defense Mechanismin Plant sunder Stressful Conditions. *Journal of Botany*, 2012.

Sharma, S.S. & Dietz, K.J. (2006). The significance of amino acids and amino acid derived molecules in plant responses and adaptation to heavy metal stress. *J. Exp. Bot*, 57, 711-726.

Shewry, P.R. (2009). Wheat. Journal of Experimental Botany, Vol. 60(6), 1537–1553.

## UNIVERSITY of the

Shin, H-D. & Kim, J-W. (2001). Flower Pink Rot of Allium Plants Caused by *Fusarium* proliferatum. Mycobiology, 29(4), 224-226.

Singh, R. & Sunder, S. (2012). Foot rot and bakanae of rice: an overview. *Rev. Pl. Pathol.* 5, 566–604.

Smirnoff, N. (1993). The role of active oxygen in response of plants to water deficit and desiccation. *New Phytol*, 125, 27–58.

Solomon, P.S., Tan, K.C. & Oliver, R.P. (2003). The nutrient supply of phytopathogenic fungi: a fertile field for study. *Mol. Plant Pathol*, 4, 203–210.

Sorahinobar, M., Niknam, V., Ebrahimzadeh, H. & Soltanloo, H. (2015). Differential antioxidative responses of susceptible and resistant wheat cultivars against *Fusarium* head blight. *Intl J Farm & Alli Sci*, 4(3), 239-243.

Stoltzfus, R.J. & Dreyfuss, M.L. (1998). Guidelines for the use of iron supplements to prevent and treat iron deficiency anaemia. Washington DC, USA: ILSI Press.

Strelkov, S.E., McLaren, D.L. & Gossen, B.D. (2015). First report of *Fusarium proliferatum* causing root rot in soybean (Glycine max L.) in Canada. *Crop Protection*, 67, 52-58.

Suzuki, N. & Mittler, R. (2006). Reactive oxygen species and temperature stresses: a delicate balance between signaling and destruction. *Physiol. Plant*, 126, 45–51.

he

Takahama, U. (2004). Oxidation of vacuolar and apoplastic phenolic substrates by peroxidase: physiological significance of the oxidation reactions. *Phytochem*, 3, 207–219.

Tanimoto, E. (2012). Tall or short? Slender or thick? A plant strategy for regulating elongation growth of roots by low concentrations of gibberellin. *Annals of Botany*, 110, 373–381.

Thomma, B.P., Eggermont, K., Tierens, K.F. and Broekaet, W.F. (1999). Requirement of functional ethylene-insensitive 2 gene for effi cient resistance of Arabidopsis to infection by Botrytis cinerea. *Plant Physiol*, 121, 1093–1102.

Thor, K. (2019). Calcium—Nutrient and Messenger. Front. Plant Sci, 10, 440.

Torres, M. A., Dangl, J. L. & Jones, J. D. G. (2002). Arabidopsis gp91<sup>phox</sup> homologues Atrohhd and Atrohhf are required for accumulation of reactive oxygen intermediates in the plant defense response. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(1), 517–522.

Triantaphylidès, C., Krischke, M., Hoeberichts, F.A., Ksas, B., Gresser, G., Havaux, M., Van Breusegem, F. & Mueller, M.J. (2008). Singlet oxygen is the major reactive oxygen species involved in photo-oxidative damage to plants. *Plant Physiol*, 148 (2008), 960-968.

Velikova, V., Yordanov, I. & Edreva, A. (2000). Oxidative stress and some antioxidant systems in acid rain-treated bean plants: protective role of exogenous polyamines. *Plant Science*, 151, 59-66.

Vidhyasekaran, P. (2004). Concise encyclopaedia of plant pathology, p. 619.

Vrakba, J., Niehaus, E-M. *et al.*, (2019). Production and role of hormones during interaction of *Fusarium* species with maize (*Zea mays* L.) seedlings. *Front. Plant Sci*, 9, 1-16.

Wang, J., Zhang, H. & Allen, R. D. (1999). Overexpression of an Arabidopsis peroxisomal ascorbate peroxidase gene in tobacco increases protection against oxidative stress. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 40(7), 725–732.

Wang, K.L.C., Li, H. & Ecker, J.R. (2002). Ethylene biosynthesis and signaling networks. *Plant Cell*, 14, 131–151.

Wang, M., Zheng, Q., Shen, Q. & Guo, S. (2013). The critical role of potassium in plant stress response. *Int. J. Mol. Sci*, 14, 7370–7390.

Waśkiewicz, A., Morkunas, I., Bednarski, W., Mai, V.C., Formela, M., Beszterda, M. ... Goliński, P. (2014). Deoxynivalenol and Oxidative Stress Indicators in Winter Wheat Inoculated with *Fusarium graminearum*. *Toxins*, 6, 575-591.

Watanabe, M., Yonezawa, T., Lee, K., Kumagai, S., Sugita-Konishi, Y., Goto, K. & Hara-Kudo, Y. (2011). Molecular phylogeny of the higher and lower taxonomy of the *Fusarium* genus and differences in the evolutionary histories of multiple gene. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, 2011, 11:322.

Welinder, K. G. (1992). Superfamily of plant, fungal and bacterial peroxidases. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology*, 2(3), 388–393.

Wezel, A., Casagrande, M., Celette, F., Vian, J.F. Ferrer, A and Peigné J. (2013). Agroecological practices for sustainable agriculture: a review. *Agron. Sustain. Dev*, 34, 1–20.

Wheat Initiative. (2013). Retrieved from www.wheatinitiative.org

Wheat. (2018). Retrieved from

http://www.arc.agric.za/arcsgi/Pages/General%20Information%20on%20SGI%20Homepage/ Wheat.aspx

Wollenweber HW, Reinking OA: Fusarien, Ihre Beschreibung, Schadwirkung Und Bekampfung. Berlin: Paul Parey; 1935. 11.

Xingfu, Y., Shimao, C. & Xiuwen, H. (1995). The relationships between the activity of several enzymes in cucumber tissues and their resistance to downy mildew of cucumber. *Acta Agriculturae Boreali-Sinica*, 10(1), 92-98.

Yadav, S. K. (2010). Heavy metals toxicity in plants: an overview on the role of glutathione and phytochelatins in heavy metal stress tolerance of plants. *S Afr J Bot*, 76, 167-179.

Zorb, C., Senbayram, M. & Peiter, E. (2014) Potassium in agriculture—Status and perspectives. *J. Plant Physiol*, 171, 656–669.

ESTERN CAPE